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Thursday, January 20, 2011


--- On commencing at 9:38 p.m.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Good morning.  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.


The Board has convened this morning to hear two applications, each of which concerns a request by the respective applicant for the preapproval of the cost consequences arising from long-term natural gas transportation contracts.  The first is an application by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc., which bears Board File No. EB-2010-0333.  It involves a request for preapproval of the cost consequences of a natural gas transportation contract with TransCanada Pipelines Limited.


The second application is made by Union Gas Limited and bears Board File No. EB-2010-0300.  Similarly, it is an application for preapproval of the cost consequences of a long-term natural gas transportation contract with TransCanada Pipelines Limited.


Both contracts are intended to provide TransCanada with some measure of security respecting the construction of natural gas transportation facilities in the Niagara Region.


Sitting with me today are Karen Taylor and Marika Hare.


With respect to the order of proceeding, the Board notes a format was circulated which provided for hearing the Union Gas evidentiary panel first, followed by cross-examination and re-examination of that panel.


After that panel was concluded, the Enbridge evidentiary panel would be sworn and heard.  That panel would be subject to cross-examination and re-examination.  The circulated format also provided for the possibility of oral submissions at the conclusion of the evidentiary portion today.


It appears as though a difference of opinion has emerged with respect to that aspect of the format and on the appropriateness of oral argument, per se, in these cases.


The Board has received correspondence from a couple of intervenors, specifically IGUA and FRPO, to the effect that it is their view that submissions in this case should be handled by way of written process rather than an oral process at the conclusion of the evidence today.


It seems worthwhile to deal with that subject matter at the outset of today's proceeding so that parties can have a clear expectation as to what the day will hold.


Therefore, following appearances, the Board will ask for submissions by the parties on the question of whether the submissions in this case should be handled orally today or by way of written submission according to a schedule to be determined or some hybrid of those options.


Can I have appearances, please?

Appearances:


MR. STEVENS:  Good morning, Mr. Sommerville.  My name is David Stevens.  With me are Robert Burke and Norm Ryckman.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Mr. Chair, Members of the Panel, my name is Emily Kirkpatrick.  I'm from Torys, and I'm here today on behalf of Union Gas.  And with me are Karen Hockin and Mark Kitchen of Union.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Welcome, Ms. Kirkpatrick.  This is your first appearance certainly before me?


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  That's correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Welcome.


MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson, Mr. Chairman, for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Not your first appearance, Mr. Thompson.  I'm continuing with a theme.


MR. WARREN:  Yes.  My name is Robert Warren, counsel to the Consumers Council of Canada, Mr. Chair.


MR. CAMERON:  Gordon Cameron for TransCanada Pipelines.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Cameron, thank you.


MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh on behalf of Energy Probe.


MR. WOLNIK:  John Wolnik representing the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That was Mr. Wolnik?


MR. WOLNIK:  That's correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  Maureen Helt, and with me I have Board members Laurie Klein, Hema Desai and Neil McKay.

Procedural Matters:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  As I indicated, I think it is appropriate to deal with this question of argument at the outset.  Mr. Stevens, I know you also filed correspondence on this subject -- I beg your pardon, Ms. Kirkpatrick filed correspondence on the subject, but, Mr. Stevens, would you like to begin?


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  As the Board will be aware from Enbridge's application, and Union's application, for that matter, the long-term contracts in question in this case have an effective date of January 31, which is a week from Monday.


As you will hear from Enbridge's witnesses describing in a little more detail, what that means is, as of 12:01 next Monday, these contracts are in force such that no penalty-free cancellation can be provided to Enbridge any longer.


That puts us in a spot where Enbridge needs guidance from the Board, needs a decision from the Board effectively by next Friday.  Enbridge has been in communication with TransCanada about a couple of aspects of this.  One was -- one reason for that was directed at the understanding, Well, what are the consequences should Enbridge decide to provide cancellation after the effective date has passed.


And the answer Enbridge has received is that it's responsible for a pro rata share of the costs which have been incurred to date should it provide cancellation after next Monday, or on next Monday, a week from Monday.


TransCanada's current information about that - and I realize I'm giving evidence, but our witnesses will speak to this - is that that will be in the range of $30,000 for Enbridge.  That, however, is premised on nobody else providing cancellation before a week from Monday, given that Enbridge is taking a pro rata share of whatever costs are incurred to date as of when it provides cancellation.


If the number of shippers who are still signed up by that date has diminished, then Enbridge's liability will go up.  We don't have any information at this point as to whether anybody else has provided cancellation, but it would be their right to do that right until the effective date.


The other reason that Enbridge has had discussions with TransCanada - and, as I understand it, this dates back to four to six weeks ago foreseeing this problem - was to see whether the effective date can be moved or whether the penalty provisions can be changed.


The answer that Enbridge has received from TransCanada is that's not possible, one of the reasons being that there is a number of shippers who have signed up.  Everybody has signed up for the same terms.  TransCanada can't unilaterally change those terms just to accommodate one or two of those shippers; another reason being that, as I understand it, there's a lot of -- or a number of different fairly time-sensitive steps to be taken to meet the in-service dates contemplated under this agreement.  And TransCanada has been working towards that and will continue to work towards that, and needs the certainty of the dates that were already set out in the present day agreement.


So with all that context, Enbridge is in a spot where it needs a decision from the Board by next Friday.  Without any decision from the Board, Enbridge will provide a notice of cancellation and will not proceed with this contract.  The very reason we're here today is to seek some comfort before passing the effective date and committing to this contract.


Certainly we have sympathy for parties who are unable to be here today who would like to be able to file argument in this case, but we're concerned that we haven't been able to come up with a schedule in our own minds that would allow for written argument following evidence today and perhaps tomorrow.


And the reason for that is, given that, as the applicant, Enbridge wishes to make sure that it can provide a reply to any intervenor argument, there have to be sort of two steps of written argument, and then the Board needs to have time to consider and come to a decision.


And so our concern is in the context of our being on a Thursday now and a decision needed eight days from now, there simply just does not appear to be enough time for all those steps to happen.  It is certainly our hope and expectation that based on the evidence submitted now, based on the cross-examinations today, that everybody in the room should be in a position to be able to understand the evidence and provide their argument and position to the Board.


One hopes it's not unduly complicated.  The guidelines are fairly straightforward and these requests are fairly straightforward.  And that argument could happen today.  I suppose it could happen tomorrow, if that works better for people.  But in our submission, that's the appropriate way for this to proceed, to allow for a decision to be granted by next Friday.


And in our submission, that's not unfair.  It's been known since the applications of Union and Enbridge were filed some months ago that a decision was needed by the 28th of January.


I believe all the parties who asked interrogatories of Enbridge, at least, are here in the room and are participating today.  There haven't been any changes of substance to what Enbridge is requesting, and in our submission, it's appropriate and possible to proceed on the basis that the Board had set out in the procedural order.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You would be prepared to argue today, orally?


MR. STEVENS:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Kirkpatrick?


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  I think we probably echo a lot of what Mr. Stevens has said, so I won't take you through all the same points again, but I think we're of the same view in that it's -- we don't see the requirement for it, given the timeline that has -- that this application has proceeded on to date.  There have been -- there has been lots of time for the issues and the evidence to be reviewed, and in our view the issues haven't -- to the extent that the issues have changed more recently, it's been to the effect of streamlining the issues, making this more straightforward and requiring less time to analyze and prepare arguments.


We're prepared to argue today, and in our view that's the preferable mode of procedure.  We agree, I think, that if argument tomorrow is preferable for people, that's entirely appropriate and we would be more than happy to agree to that.


I think we're in the same position as Enbridge in not having been able to come up with a schedule that accommodates a significant additional amount of time to consider the evidence and create written submissions because of this January 28th deadline, or -- I guess I don't want to overstate it.  Of course, the effective date is the 31st, but practically speaking, a January 28th deadline.


I think it just becomes overly complicated or compressed with the multiple steps that would have to happen in the span of a week.


So I think our position remains that today or tomorrow is the most appropriate time, and in our view not unfair or prejudicial, given the amount of time that this evidence and these issues have been on the record.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.


It's a bit awkward to be arguing this, because I suspect there will be evidence on it from the witnesses when they testify in terms of prejudice and that kind of thing.


In terms of what Enbridge is saying, it should be remembered under the precedent agreements that the parties have between the date of the precedent agreements and up to the date the facilities, the new facilities are in service to cancel.  Now, if they go past this January 30th date, there is a cancellation exposure and Mr. Stevens is saying it looks like our share at the moment is about $30,000.


If you look at the Union evidence that they filed on January the 6th of 2011 –- sorry, January the 17th of 2011, this is when they provided a copy of the one precedent agreement that they're now -- with respect to facilities, they're now seeking approval.  And if you go to sheet 12 of that, paragraph 15, you'll see the maximum, maximum exposure Union has for whatever facilities are being constructed is 232,241.  That's to get them up and running.


So it looks to me like these numbers for at least the Kirkwall piece are pretty small, and in that context my submission is there should be a gap between the close of evidence today and the receipt of argument, if for no other reasons so parties can get instructions from their clients as to what precisely is the relief that should -- ought to be proposed.  I expect the evidence that comes out today will have a bearing on that.


I'm indifferent as to whether it's written or oral.  I know other parties have asked for written argument.  I'm content with oral, but there should be a gap and the gap should be long enough to enable people to get instructions and formulate practical recommendations for the Board.


So my submission is the Board shouldn't be rushed into this.  There should be some gap, and if we can't do it by January 30th, so be it.  These parties should stand by their precedent agreements, and if the decision is rendered a month from now and they don't like it, they can cancel and there might be small fees -- 30,000 perhaps in each case -- and they can come back to the Board and ask that ratepayers pick up those fees.


So those are my submissions on the process point.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.


Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman and Members of the Panel, I'm indifferent on the issue of written versus oral.  If it's faster to do it orally, I'm content with that.  I do have considerable sympathy for Mr. Thompson's point that there ought to be a gap between the close of the evidentiary portion of the case and argument, so that we can consider the evidence, formulate a position and seek instructions on it.  So I would urge the Board to allow a gap of at least until some at some point, perhaps, early next week for receipt of oral submissions on the matter.


Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.


Mr. Cameron?


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.


TransCanada supports the Applicants in urging the Board to issue a decision by next Friday, so that the precedent agreements can be honoured without penalty.


We would, however, say that this is primarily a question for you, the Panel, what schedule, we would say, do you need to issue a decision by next Friday.  And if you could receive written argument on Monday and reply on Wednesday and issue a decision by Friday, then that would meet the case.


Our point is, as with Union and Enbridge, we need a decision by Friday, and so whether it's written or oral, we view this as primarily a question for you, what schedule do you need to make your decision within those timeframes.


Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. MacIntosh?


MR. MacINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe.


Mr. Chair and Panel Members, I wish to request that the Board provide for written argument for intervenors in this case.  The Applicants are obviously ready to provide argument-in-chief orally, but some intervenors, at least, would appreciate a few days to consider the testimony in this oral proceeding and to obtain instructions from their clients prior to written submissions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, sir.


MR. WOLNIK:  From my perspective, Mr. Chairman, I would also support written argument, and also to have a gap between the close of evidence today and an opportunity to consult with my clients so that we can formulate a final position based on what we've heard.


I also empathize with the applicants, though, in terms of the timing and the need to have their decisions by July 31st.  However, I also agree with Mr. Thompson that the penalties to not meet that, if they do need to get out, seem to be minor, given the nature of the contracts involved.  So it appears to me the July 31st date may be somewhat flexible within the context of the agreement itself.


So in summary, I prefer written, and some gap between the end of today and when we need to submit it.  Whether that's early next week or later next week, that would be very helpful.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Stevens and Ms. Kirkpatrick, we've heard a couple of suggestions that a kind of hybrid approach be taken, which would provide for oral submissions-in-chief from the applicants today or tomorrow, depending -- probably today, if that was achievable, and then a small interval to allow intervenors to get instructions and formulate arguments to be prepared for early next week, and then an opportunity for reply.


Now, there would be a short turnaround in both of those instances, a short turnaround for the reply, and an even shorter turnaround probably for -- I beg your pardon, a short turnaround for the intervenors' submissions, and then a shorter turnaround for the reply.


How does that formulation strike you?  If you would like a minute or two to confer with your clients privately, the Board can give you that opportunity.  We'll stand down for five or seven minutes.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 10:00 a.m.


--- On resuming at 10:11 a.m.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.  Mr. Stevens?


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you Mr. Chair.


We've spent some time speaking about this, both ourselves as Enbridge and with Union, and clearly, as you're aware, our preference is to proceed as the Board has set out in its procedural order.


We do hear the concerns raised by others.  We understand what they're saying.  But it continues to be critically important that a decision be rendered by next Friday.  That's not something that we're able to work around.


And just by way of context for that, one of the things to keep in mind is the estimate that I gave of $30,000 of costs for Enbridge as of the first moment a week from Monday, I'm told it's a little low, but beyond that I'm also told that the costs could go up very quickly after that.


So that number doesn't stay flat for any period of time after the first day.


So with all that context, we've tried to think of a way to do this to allow the Board to provide a decision by next Friday.  And what we think could be workable from our perspective is to have intervenor argument in writing by noon on Monday.  Enbridge and Union would then believe we could be in a position to deliver our reply argument by the end of the day on Tuesday, giving the Board some time to be able to consider everything and come to a decision by Friday.  And that would –- that contemplates that we would deliver whatever argument-in-chief we have orally today.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Any comment with respect to those, that very specific proposal?


MR. THOMPSON:  My only comment, Mr. Chairman, is if you could, to provide intervenors with an oral option rather than trying to pull something together in writing by Monday, if we could come down and present it orally.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  An oral option for Monday?  That will require us to make some inquiries as to the availability of hearing rooms.


And does Staff have any knowledge about that at this stage?


MS. HELT:  No, we don't, but we can certainly make inquiries immediately, and...


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And with respect to Panel availability as well for Monday morning.


MS. HELT:  We can do that, yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks.  So the Board will make this determination, that both Union and Enbridge will provide their arguments orally today, that intervenor argument will be due at noon on Monday.  Whether that is in a written format or with an option for an oral format depends on availability of facilities and the Panel.  And reply in writing from the applicants due close of business on Tuesday.


The Board will endeavour to render a decision consistent with the timeframes that have been outlined by the applicants.  But we -- you know, that's dependent on our ability to deliberate effectively and to come up with a decision in that timeframe, and we'll do our best to do that.


So Mr. Thompson, I can't give you a complete answer right now, but we will accommodate the oral option if we can do so.


MR. THOMPSON:  Just another thought, Mr. Chairman.  I note tomorrow must be available, because it was an option specified in the procedural order.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Indeed.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so perhaps the oral option would be tomorrow at noon, something like that.  Would that work?


MR. SOMMERVILLE: Well, we would certainly have availability for that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Or tomorrow at 10:00 perhaps?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.


Mr. Stevens, you seem to want to comment.


MR. STEVENS:  Certainly I think from our perspective, we would prefer that to some time on Monday.  It gives sort of more certainty and more ability for us to meet our end-of-the-day-Tuesday deadline.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So intervenor argument with an option for an oral presentation tomorrow, potentially, and potentially on Monday, but certainly the arguments to be made no later than noon on Monday, either in writing or orally.


MR. THOMPSON:  In writing, yes.  Okay.  Fine.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So we will have to get back to you on that proposal.


My colleague, Mr. Thompson, indicates of course you're traveling from Ottawa, so if the oral option for tomorrow, your argument, is one that you can accommodate, then the day is available, the Panel is available and we can accommodate that tomorrow.


And such other of the intervenors as want to argue tomorrow, we can do that too.


MR. CAMERON:  As another Ottawan, Mr. Chair, that would save another trip.  I don't think TransCanada has very much to say in final argument.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.


MR. CAMERON:  But it would probably be either orally tomorrow, or in writing, at whatever later date you stipulate.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very good.  So are we clear going forward?  Does everyone understand what the options are and how we'll proceed?  I see soft assent.


Just to make it clear, the option for argument to be made by midday on Monday is still available.  Whether that is available in an oral format remains to be seen, depending on facilities being available.


MS. HELT:  I can advise that all three Panel Members are available on Monday --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ands how about a hearing room?


MS. HELT:  -- for oral argument.  Just a moment.


There is also a hearing room available on Monday.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Great.  So the oral and written options are available until midday on Monday, and those intervenors who want to make oral argument or written argument, for that matter, tomorrow are free to do so.


MS. HELT:  Mr. Chair, just to clarify, do we have a time set tomorrow, then, for oral argument?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson suggested 10:00.  Let's go with that.  Does that work for everybody?  Good.


So with that, I think the order of proceeding indicated that we would hear the Union panel first.  Are they ready to be sworn, Ms. Kirkpatrick?


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  I think they are.


I think there was some discussion about opening remarks.  I'm not sure if the Board is inclined to hear those or not, but there had been some suggestion of that, I think, by Board Staff.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is not our practice, typically, to have prolix opening remarks.  If you want to preface briefly the nature of the evidence that you're going to present, the Board won't have any particular difficulty with that.  We generally expect that the evidence that this panel intends to give is contained in the application in its written form.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  And I think that's entirely consistent with –-


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But a small preface, I don't think anyone would have particular difficulties with that.

Opening Statement by Ms. Kirkpatrick:


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Well, I think maybe what I'll do is just sort of frame things.  I think a lot of this has been covered already in the preliminary discussion we had about timing, but I think from Union's perspective, the feature of this application that we just want to address by way of framing the issues is that, in our submission, this application has become significantly streamlined from Union's original application for the three contracts.  And in our view there is -- as it pertains to Union's application, this proceeding really now just comes down to a single contract and really a single question about that contract.


And in our view, the application is quite straightforward and just involves an application of what the Board has already determined are its -- the criteria it considers to be particularly relevant in determining whether these type of transportation contracts, the costs associated with these type of transportation contracts should be pre-approved.


So with that, I -- but just before we call on Union's panel, I just want to address a few exhibits.  We had circulated both to Board staff and to the parties this morning three exhibits.  Two are the CVs of Union's panel members, Mark Isherwood and Patti Piett, so perhaps those could be marked.


MS. HELT:  Yes, if we mark the statement of qualifications of Patty Piett as K1.1 and the statement of qualifications of Mark Isherwood as K1.2.  We will just bring them up for the Panel.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS OF PATTY PIETT.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS OF MARK ISHERWOOD.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Thank you very much.  And maybe while they're doing that, the third document that we circulated this morning is a table prepared by Union showing the impact of its Niagara contract and the contract that is the subject of Enbridge's application on TCPL long-haul, and this table was circulated by e-mail last night to Board Staff and to the parties.


The version that was circulated last night, just so everyone in the room is aware, contained a typo that results in a mathematical inaccuracy.  A corrected version of that table has been circulated this morning, and I'd ask that the corrected version be marked.


MS. HELT:  We will mark at Exhibit K1.3 a table entitled "Financial Impact of Incremental TCPL Niagara Short-haul Contracts, Union and Enbridge".

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  TABLE ENTITLED "FINANCIAL IMPACT OF INCREMENTAL TCPL NIAGARA SHORT-HAUL CONTRACTS, UNION AND ENBRIDGE"


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  How do I know whether this is the correct version?


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  I think the witness will likely be speaking to that, but it's a matter of the volume of in -- under the heading "times gJs per day".  The incorrect version had the figure 21,202.  It should read 21,101.


With that, perhaps the witnesses could be sworn.

UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1


Mark Isherwood, Sworn


Patti Piett, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Ms. Kirkpatrick:


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Ms. Piett, I understand you are the director of gas supply at Union Gas?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  You've been with Union since 1984?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  And you've been in your current position since 2008?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  And you have a master's of business administration degree from the University of Western Ontario?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  And an honours business administration degree from the same?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  You've appeared before the Board on multiple occasions before as a witness?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Were you involved in the preparation of the prefiled evidence in this proceeding --


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  -- as it pertains to Union?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Do you adopt that evidence put for the purpose of this proceeding?


MS. PIETT:  Yes, I do, with two corrections.  Although this portion of the evidence is no longer pertinent to applications since we've withdrawn the Parkway contracts, for a matter of the record, there was an error made on page 12 of our prefiled evidence.


On that page, after page 4, referring to the Parkway to EDA contract, the evidence reads that the transportation service would cost $2,827,000.  That number should actually be half of that, $1,413,703, so 14 million over the term of the contract.  Note this incorrect number was also included in the original description of the application that has since been withdrawn and amended, so it no longer is there in the application.


A second correction that I must make is in the interrogatory to Board Staff B1.10, and toward the bottom of that page we described that the contract cost for the NDA -- or, pardon me, for the Niagara contract would be 4.1 million, the second-last line on that page.  The correct number is 1.5 million.  That was simply a mathematical error.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  And are you aware of any other changes or updates needed to the evidence?


MS. PIETT:  No.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Were you responsible for or involved in the preparation of the interrogatories prepared in respect of the prefiled evidence?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  And with the exceptions that you've already noted, do you adopt those answers to the interrogatories as part of your evidence?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Thank you.  Mr. Isherwood, I understand you're the general manager, business development storage and transmission at Union?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  And you've been with Union since 1982?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  And you've been in your current position since last year?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  You have a bachelor of chemical engineering degree from the University of Waterloo?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  And a bachelor of commerce degree from the University of Windsor?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  And master of business administration degree from the University of Windsor, as well?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  You've appeared before the Board on multiple occasions before as a witness?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Were you involved in the preparation of the prefiled evidence in this proceeding as relates to Union?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Do you adopt that evidence for the purpose of this proceeding?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  With the exceptions that Ms. Piett noted?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Are you aware of any other changes or updates that need to be made?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am not.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  And were you responsible for or involved in the preparation of responses to interrogatories?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I was.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  And do you adopt those answers, with the qualifications Ms. Piett pointed out?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Are you aware of any other changes or updates that need to be made to those?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Chair, members of the Panel, I have just a brief examination-in-chief.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Proceed.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Ms. Piett, on January 17 of this year, Union advised the Board that it was withdrawing its application in respect of its contract between Parkway and Union's northern distribution area, and the contract between Parkway and Union's eastern distribution area.


Can you explain why that decision was made?


MS. PIETT:  Originally, Union had intended to support the expansion of the TransCanada's facilities between the point of Parkway and Maple by securing those contracts that would deliver a more diverse supply of gas to our north.


As described in the Natural Gas Market Review, Union believes this bottleneck is impeding the flow of gas around Ontario and increasingly has negative consequences for our ratepayers.


Through contract discussions with TransCanada, it was clear they wanted to provide this service in whichever way they chose to be most efficient.  What that meant to us is it may have been provided by a bypass of the Parkway to Maple system and a bypass of our own facilities, and we didn't feel that was in the best interest of our customers to support that project if that was the case.


And we were disappointed that we couldn't pursue these contracts, because we very much wanted to provide that diverse supply to the north.  But, instead, we thought it wasn't in the best interests of our customers to pursue this particular project.


In the end, we had two difficulties with those Parkway contracts, and, in principle, the first difficulty we had was that if TransCanada was to provide that service through its existing facilities somehow, then we couldn't support an obligation of a ten-year commitment.  We thought that that would be more of a one-year commitment if they were to use existing assets.


And the second thing was we didn't want to tie up the volumes that we could have placed on a project like that to this particular project, because then if another project came along that did support the expansion of the facilities, then we wouldn't be able to contribute to that project.


So, in the end, we thought that this isn't the right time to move forward with that plan.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Thank you.  Union is, however, continuing its application to have the costs of its contract between Niagara and Kirkwall preapproved.  Can you explain what Union sees as the benefits of that contract?


MS. PIETT:  There are a number of benefits that we are excited about.  First of all, this route provides a new path for Union's system supply portfolio, and, in so doing, provides even greater diversity than the south has enjoyed in the past.  It also represents a unique opportunity to connect Union to Marcellus Supply Basin, which is rapidly growing an abundant supply of gas that is in very close proximity to Ontario.


The close proximity means there will be reduced transportation tools and, therefore, a lesser sunk cost in our supply portfolio, and therefore it provides more flexibility.


This supply route is already well connected to Ontario, meaning that there will be an efficient use of the assets that are already in place that are connected to Ontario and already in Ontario.


Another benefit that we saw was that attaching to this basin helps to offset the increasing costs of supply from the west.  So as we have experienced, the WCSB supplies are increasing in nature due to the declining basin, and this is one way that we can –- this is one method we can take to reduce that, that impact.


Finally, by connecting to Union's system at Kirkwall, it provides improved security of supply on our system, as it will be the only supply that connects to our system at that location.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Ms. Piett, will there be any decontracting of TCPL main line as a result of Union's Niagara contract?


MS. PIETT:  No, not at all.  This short-haul contract, in fact, will provide additional incremental flows to TCPL's system, and in our view will have a downward effect on TCPL's totals.  Only the Parkway contracts contemplated decontracting of the TCPL long-haul services.  And now those contracts have been removed from this application.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  So to clarify, the only contracts that would have led to decontracting of TCPL main line have been withdrawn from this proceeding?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Ms. Piett, I understand that midday yesterday you received from TCPL a document setting out its analysis of the financial impact of the Niagara contract, the Parkway contracts that are have been withdrawn and Enbridge's contract, how those contracts impact on TCPL main line; is that correct?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Can you comment on that analysis?


MS. PIETT:  I can really only comment to say that I've seen it.  The calculations, I can't comment on, because I have no background information as to whether those calculations are correct or not.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  And it's my understanding that after you received that analysis, you performed your own assessment of the impact of Union's Niagara contract and Enbridge's contract; is that correct?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  And that's the document that's been marked as Exhibit K1.3, I believe?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Can you just walk us through the analysis that's set out in that document?


MS. PIETT:  Okay.  Maybe if I could just go back to why I created this document, when I looked at the TCPL document yesterday, I wasn't able to understand the calculations, and even directionally the way the numbers were looking was a puzzle to me.  In fact, if I looked at the first line on the item, it implied that, for instance, Niagara's contract that Enbridge was embarking on would have an increase in tolls, even though it was additional revenue to their system.


So I thought that was odd, and I thought that rather than try to understand what they might be putting forward, I would do my own analysis.  So that's what I've done.


So in this K1.3, what we've done is we've considered the impact to TCPL tolls and therefore to Ontario ratepayers as a result of the additional Niagara contracts for both Union and Enbridge.


The first thing we looked at was the landed

average -- or the average landed cost impact of those two routes.  So on the Union line under section A, we've considered the landed cost analysis, the difference between buying at Niagara and buying at Dawn for three years and buying at Alliance for the remaining seven.  The weighted average difference is a cost increase to our customers of two cents.  And times the volume, that would have an impact of $154,000 of just landed cost increase to our customers.


We then considered the Enbridge contract, and in response to 5.2, where we've been asked to comment on the impact to all of Ontario, that's why we included Enbridge; we thought that may be helpful.  The average landed cost for Enbridge was a reduction of three cents, just taking that directly from Enbridge's evidence that was prefiled, and if you consider their volume over the term of a year, it would be a reduction in cost of $328,000.


We also then wanted to look at the impact on what the TCPL tolls would be of that additional revenue on their system, and the additional paths -- additional revenues that TCPL would receive would amount to $2,018,000.


We understand, after talking to TCPL on various occasions -- and this is where I'm relying on TCPL's information that the effect of $10 million of revenue has an effect of one cent on the long-haul toll, so that's a rule of thumb that we have heard in the past.  So we applied it in this circumstance.


We therefore thought that an increase of revenue of $2 million would amount to a 0.2 cent increase or decrease -- or change, I should say, change in tolls.  And since this was additional revenue, it would be a decrease of 0.2 cents.


So given that, the overall impact on section C of this chart shows that in fact these two contracts would have a downward pressure on costs for Ontario customers for the sales service supply of half a million dollars, approximately.  And given that, the two utilities spend approximately $2 billion on supply per year, that would represent about 0.02 percent.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Thank you.


Those are my questions in examination-in-chief.  So I propose to tender the panel for cross-examination.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Have intervenors decided on an order of cross-examination?


MR. THOMPSON:  Could you produce a copy of the TCPL document that Exhibit K1.3 is a reaction to, please?  Can copies of that been made available to us?


MR. CAMERON:  I'm trying to get my microphone -– there we go.  This is a Union panel, but the document was created by TransCanada.  We intended to introduce it through the Enbridge panel, but if it's appropriate that it be made available to parties now, we have copies.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That would seem to be helpful, Mr. Cameron.  Thank you.


Ms. Kirkpatrick, do you have any comment?


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Only that I think that given Ms. Piett's response, that she's not able to comment on it one way or another, it's not clear to me that it really forms part of Union's evidence.  But I'm content, if it's going to be introduced anyway, to have it introduced now.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  I think your caveat is well taken, and we'll keep that in mind.  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  We can mark, then, as Exhibit K1.4 a document entitled:  "TransCanada Cost Impact Analysis, Long-Haul Versus Short-Haul."

EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "TRANSCANADA COST IMPACT ANALYSIS, LONG-HAUL VERSUS SHORT-HAUL."


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cameron.  Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  So Ms. Piett, could you -- I appreciate you didn't understand this, but what did you take it to be purporting to present to you?


MS. PIETT:  I understood that each of these six lines of data, of number data, represented different scenarios under which the cost of -- or the supply of gas to Ontario could be delivered.  And when I looked at the first two lines, they represented the original applications, and then once Union amended its application a week ago, then a new line was added –- "Union Niagara to Kirkwall contract" -- which is the third line of data, and those represented the cost to customers in the action of pursuing that contract.


The remaining three lines of data are simply choices that might have been made to supply that volume of gas.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so in your presentation, you have your calculation of what is line 3 in the TCPL --


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- presentation?  And then you simply added another line for Enbridge in your presentation.  Is that what is line 1 in the TCPL presentation?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And is there any material difference between your line -- their line 1 and their line 3 and your two lines?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what's the difference, big picture?


MS. PIETT:  With my analysis, I've included the landed cost of gas differential.  So the fact that we buy supply at different prices at the two locations we thought was material.  I've also included this rule of thumb that 1 cent impact would be received on $10 million of a change in revenue.


I don't know where TCPL got their number, but, in the end, if I just look at the Union line of the TCPL table, it says that there was a downward pressure of 0.1 cents for that project, and our view was that it was 0.2 cents.


MR. THOMPSON:  0.2 or -- all right.  So it was a downward pressure of 0.2?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  So you say it was worse than they say it was?


MS. PIETT:  Correct.  So my impact showed twice as much value, I suppose, than TCPL's, but I have no idea how TCPL got their number.  In any case, it's a small difference.  Directionally, they're the same on the Union line.


On the Enbridge line, we were going different directions and I can't speak to how TCPL would consider that additional revenue to their system would have an increase in rates, when presumably they were putting in place a cost-effective project.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, for the purposes of my examination, there is a lot of things going on concurrently here that we think are relevant to these applications, and for the purposes of my examination, I would hope that you would have in front of you - and I could have marked - first of all, the materials for use by Enbridge Gas Distribution for oral submissions.


There are some documents in there we didn't copy, because Enbridge had already copied them, and I'll be referring to that booklet.


MS. HELT:  We'll mark Enbridge's materials for use for oral submissions on January 20th, 2011 as Exhibit K1.5.

EXHIBIT No. K1.5:  ENBRIDGE MATERIALS FOR USE IN ORAL SUBMISSIONS ON JANUARY 20, 2011.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then the second book of materials not in the record are the materials we circulated by e-mail yesterday Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters' witness examination materials not already in the record.  I have given copies of that to the Board Panel and to Board Staff, and I think the Union witnesses have one.  That was all I was able to lug down with me, so I hope others made copies.


MS. HELT:  Mr. Thompson, we do have one or two additional copies for any parties who don't have them, and if we can mark that, we'll mark that as Exhibit K1.6, CME witness examination materials.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  CME WITNESS EXAMINATION MATERIALS.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you -- does the witness panel have a copy of Exhibit K1.6?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We do.


MR. THOMPSON:  I wanted to start, if I might, with a follow-up on your evidence-in-chief as to why you pulled the Parkway and Maple contracts from this application, withdrew them from the application.


And in that context, I would ask you to turn to what is tab 2 in Exhibit K1.6.  These were Union's submissions to the Board's Natural Gas Market Review panel.  Should I be directing these questions to you, Mr. Isherwood, or to you, Ms. Piett, or just to the panel generally.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Panel, please.


MR. THOMPSON:  Are you folks familiar with these submissions?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes we are.


MR. THOMPSON:  And my take from them, in part, was that this physical limitation between the Parkway, Union and Maple was, as far as Union was concerned, a critical problem that needed to be addressed promptly?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is that still Union's position?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Absolutely.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so the contracts that you -- sorry, the bids that you put in to TransCanada's open season and the contracts that you were offered were, as I understood it, designed to relieve that bottleneck.  You wanted some space to go from Parkway up to the northern delivery area, and you wanted some space to go from Parkway down to Union's eastern delivery area?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It may be easiest to turn to the actual precedent agreement that was filed.  I need to find the exhibit number.


MR. THOMPSON:  The one for Kirkwall, or are you talking about the ones for Parkway?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They're all the same.  The one that was actually in the package on January 17th, the precedent agreement was filed for that, as well.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  There's really two principles in the precedent agreement that we could not come to terms with TransCanada on as it related to the Parkway to NDA and Parkway to EDA contracts.


MR. THOMPSON:  Can I just interrupt you, Mr. Isherwood?  Do we need to mark this as an exhibit, or is this part of the Board's material?  This is the January 17th, 2011 letter that Union provided in response to the Board's further questions on -- sorry, this is the January 17, 2011 withdrawal.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  This is our application.


MS. HELT:  I believe it's been filed with the Board secretary, and the Panel Members do have the material.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The material before us has been amended according to the Union update, the Union filing.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do we need an exhibit number, I guess, is my only question?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I don't think so.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, that's fine.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  There is actually a three-page amended application, and attached to that was the actual precedent agreement.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  And there is really two elements of that precedent agreement we could not come to terms with TCPL on, and for that reason we pulled the application on the two contracts involving Parkway to the NDA and Parkway to the EDA.


If I can just highlight what those two elements are, they show up in a few spots, so I'll just identify the spots.  On sheet 2 of the precedent agreement, the second "whereas" talks about:

"TransCanada will use reasonable efforts to provide the requested service..."


It goes on to say:

"...in the most efficient manner, which may or may not require the increase in combined capacity."


So from our perspective, we submitted this application with really two objectives in place.  One was to diversify the supply in the north and the east, and second was to support the de-bottlenecking of the Parkway to Maple path.


When we talked to TCPL about that, they were not prepared to commit to a build, and the second element that we have difficulty with was the next "whereas", which is:

"Shipper will support TransCanada's efforts to provide the requested service in the most efficient manner without including limitation, consideration of options which may or may not require installation of additional facilities."


So just to kind of add to that, those same two principles show up again on sheet 8, the very top of sheet 8, which is I guess the tail end of paragraph 3 from page 7, but the second line down, it says:

"Shipper shall actively support TransCanada's efforts to obtain the authorizations..."


It goes on to say that if we don't actively support, it would be a vendor cancellation and would be subject to cancellation penalties.  The concern we had is if TCPL chose not to build and, instead, decided to use other ways of getting capacity between Dawn/Parkway and the NDA or EDA, it could eventually result in a bypass of our facilities.  And we just found it objectionable to have to support that publicly, when obviously we would have a different opinion.  And if don't support, obviously we have an event of cancellation which is punitive.


Just the very last spot is on sheet 18 and it's paragraph 31.  And it just gets back into TCPL's option to do this new capacity addition in the most efficient manner possible.  And I would say the last time we signed a precedent agreement was probably five years ago, and this language is new; it's kind of evolved in the precedent agreement since then.  So we were really hopeful during the negotiation phase of the PA that we could find common language that would be workable, and at the end we were unable to do so.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let me just understand this.  You wanted to, according to the -- or Union wanted to, according to the submission in the Natural Gas Market Review, to make sure that you could move new sources of gas up into the north and down to the -- your eastern delivery area?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We talked about the importance of the piece of pipe between Parkway and Maple being constrained, and the importance of de-bottlenecking that path, which had also the positive impact of being able to diversify supply.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right, but what you want to do is get gas up to the north NDA, and get -- from Parkway and get gas into the Union EDA?


MS. PIETT:  It's correct that that's what we want to do.  It's just that we don't believe we should have diversity at all costs.  Although we want diversity in our north very much, there is probably a better way to do it, and we'll wait until that right time comes along so that we're free to act on a project that supports all of our needs.


MR. THOMPSON:  But you were telling this Board that was critical; that is an urgent requirement for Ontario gas flows, as of the Natural Gas Market Review presentation?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our submission was detailing the need to build between Parkway and Maple and to de-bottleneck that path.


MR. THOMPSON:  And you applied to -- for service, in effect, from TransCanada for that in the open season?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  You wanted firm service for 10 years, right?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And am I correct that they're prepared to give that to you?


MS. PIETT:  They're prepared to provide the service, but not necessarily through the construction of new facilities.


So as I said before, we would have two problems with that.   Number one is if they're going to use existing facilities, why would we agree to sign a 10-year commitment to do that if there isn't an outlay of cash?  In principle, we just don't support that.


And then the other option is that if we were to support this project and they chose to provide the service by back-hauling on Great Lakes and moving the gas back to Manitoba to get over back to Ontario, then we don't support that as an efficient movement of gas.  And if we confirmed that our volumes to that project, then when another project came along that was to address the expansion of the facilities, that we may not have enough flexibility in our portfolio to support the new project.


So our hands would be tied and we wouldn't have met our objectives of addressing that bottleneck.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I'm still a little puzzled, because presumably you want to be able to provide gas service to your northern delivery area and your eastern delivery area longer term?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  That's the only way Marcellus gas is going to get up there; isn't that correct?


MS. PIETT:  Marcellus -- the diversity by moving gas from Parkway up to north wouldn't necessarily be Marcellus gas; it could be any gas that's sourced from the south.  And yes, we need service for our customers longer-term.  Presumably, we'll be in this business for a long time, but if we can have a one-year contract rather than a 10-year contract, generally that provides us more flexibility and is more desirable.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Well, have you asked them for a one-year contract?


MS. PIETT:  We did.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what did they say?


MS. PIETT:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  When was that done?


MS. PIETT:  Through our negotiations of these contracts for the last two months, we talked with TransCanada on several occasions, asking them to confirm a build or otherwise to offer a one-year contract for existing facilities.


And we probably would have supported either.  We do want diversity in the north, but not at all costs.  We know that construction of facilities really practically couldn't be in place until 2013.


We would be happy to get diversity to our north now, but in order to support a project that construction wouldn't be able to begin until 2013, at which time we would be happy to have a one-year contract that began then.


But more than anything, we wanted to see that bottleneck addressed, for the sake of all of our ratepayers, not just the north.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is existing capacity from TransCanada available on one-year terms?  Generally?


MS. PIETT:  Not from Parkway to the north, no.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then I was a little scratching my head when you said you decided to scrap the -- withdraw these contracts because you thought Union would lead to a bypass of your system.   Did I understand that correctly?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That was one of our considerations.  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And when you say that, do you mean TransCanada might be decontracting its M12, or not renewing it?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think in this case, it would be more that incremental volumes would be going in a different direction.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So they would be bypassing your system for incremental volumes; is this what your concern is?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The concern we have is -- and we raised this at the Market Review, as well -- that TCPL has served about a half a bcf a day of capacity by going from Dawn, essentially, back to Manitoba on a back-haul on Great Lakes and then back through Northern Ontario to Toronto and eastern markets.  And we view that as being an inappropriate path for that half a bcf to go, and at some point we will be debating that, I'm sure, at the NEB, because that's really a cost factor on TCPL.


But we don't see it would be prudent to be supporting expanding that whole path when we view it as being economically disadvantaging all of us.


MR. THOMPSON:  Are they expanding it, or just using empty capacity?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If they're taking our capacity as part of that contract and flowing them around the horn, then that would be expanding that direction.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, they're infilling excess capacity, is the way I would view it.  They're not building new capacity around the horn; they're trying to fill up their system, and you're complaining because they're not taking incremental volumes on your system, if I understand you; is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, I think in the volumes that we're proposing for those two contracts, Union would have delivered the gas to Parkway on our own system, and then went on the TCPL system from Parkway to the NDA and Parkway to the EDA.


So we would not expect TCPL to have contracted our system to provide those two services.


MR. THOMPSON:  I understand that, but what is the bypass, then, that you're concerned about?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The bypass is essentially an expansion of volumes going around the horn.  So today it's about, in round numbers, about half a bcf a day.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And your view is that shouldn't go that way.  It should be an add-on to your system from Dawn up to Parkway; is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our view that we shared at the Market Review was the gas should be going on the most direct path, which is, say, 200 kilometres in this case, rather than going 3,000 kilometres around the horn.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The issue we have is really at Dawn.  We first came -- we first started talking to TCPL about the physical reality here about this time last year.  It was January of 2010.


Because of the declining throughput on TransCanada, the ability to do around the horn through straight displacement became an issue, and they were projecting physical days –- or, sorry, days where the physical flow would not be enough to support around the horn.  So they actually came to Union Gas and asked us to provide a physical service to put gas back into Great Lakes on what they call back-haul or reverse flow.


So we actually spent some capital dollars in the summer of 2010 to put a meter in at Dawn that would allow gas to go from Dawn into Great Lakes.


So up until 2010, this service of around the horn was really served by just displacement and exchanges.  There's a good description of it, actually, in the Market Review presentation Union did, but it's essentially gas going from Empress, Alberta, gets to Manitoba and has a choice of going across Northern Ontario or down the TCPL's second route in through Great Lakes into Dawn, so it kind of splits in Manitoba.


And by moving gas at that point across the north instead of coming down to Dawn, it can effectively provide a service Dawn to Parkway by this diverting gas, and instead of incurring any set toll on Union, they can incur whatever cost having their own system to provide that service around the horn.


It all started back around 2003 when they sold about a half a bcf of contracts from Dawn to Parkway and points east, and have been flowing those volumes ever since.  In 2003, the system, main line system, was very robust, lots of gas flowing, and it was partly the integrated system that could make that move very easily.


With volumes declining on the main line, there were days in 2010 where the volumes coming into Dawn were actually less than half a bcf a day on the Great Lakes system, and when you're less than half a bcf a day, you can no longer do that switch in Manitoba and move the gas across the north.


So what TCPL had asked to us do is, if they can't do it through the switch of gas in Manitoba, then they need the ability to do it physically from Dawn into Great Lakes up to Manitoba and back across the north.  So we changed our system at Dawn to accommodate a half a bcf a day of capacity.  That was our limit, and remains our limit.


In terms of physical facilities, TCPL changed their system at Dawn and also in Manitoba at a point called Emerson, and now have the physical capability to move half of bcf of gas around the horn.  It hasn't happened yet, and it would be a bad day if you had a whole half a bcf having to flow suddenly, but there may be days -- this winter, it's expected that they may have to flow some or all of the half a bcf a day.


And the issue we have is we can't expand Dawn without putting some major facilities in to get above half a bcf a day.  And the way this clause reads, we would to support them in whatever path or whatever direction they chose, and we're not prepared to spend a lot of money on compression or more pipe facilities to expand that path.


As it grows, it is basically bypassing the Ontario path.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Sorry, if I could just jump in for a second?  It's not entirely clear to me what the purpose of this cross-examination is or where it's leading.  The contract we're discussing now -- or the contracts we're discussing now are ones that have been withdrawn from this application, and I think the panel is prepared, and I would suggest that it's appropriate, to explain Union's rationale for withdrawing those, but I think the details of the implications of those contracts are really neither here nor there.  There is no issue on these contracts for the Board to be deciding today.


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm just trying to understand the rationale and think about the implications.


But my question is, Mr. Isherwood, and this will be the last question in this area:  Does this mean that we still have a problem of a critical nature in terms of getting these supplies from alternate sources up to the northern and eastern delivery areas in Union's system, or is there something else out there that you're going to rely on to solve that?


MS. PIETT:  I don't think we ever said it was critical.  I think we've said it would be a benefit to have supply diverse in the north.  But, yes, there are other options to provide that diversity, and we will continue to look at those options on a daily basis.


In fact, just this week we're looking at an option to provide diversity to the north, something that we didn't anticipate even three weeks ago that would be available.  But Great Lakes' system has offered an open system to back haul gas from St. Clair, which is adjacent to Dawn, back up to Emerson for 8 cents, possibly.


And that's a terrific option that we looked at.  We were quite excited about that, and we're now looking to negotiate with Great Lakes to possibly serve Sault Ste. Marie area from Michigan.  And not that we would serve the entire market that way, but it would be a source of diversity for that market.


We also looked at doing that same idea for the WDA, which is just adjacent to Emerson, and, unfortunately, I don't think we're going to be able to make that toll work and that the landed cost would end up more expensive than the Alberta route.


But we certainly looked at it, and what was preventing us from being successful was the short-haul cost on TCPL from Emerson to the WDA, which is just a short distance.  But rather than being 8 cents like it is on the Great Lakes system for a very long distance, the short-haul in TCPL was in the range of 40 cents.


So it was completely out of whack, but something we had to deal with, and, in fact, has the risk of even going higher, depending on how TransCanada settles its tolls application for 2011.


So although we were disappointed that the WDA area won't work at this time, the Sault Ste. Marie area looks favourable, so we're pursuing that option now to provide diversity to the north.


So it's not that we are not interested in diversity, but we just need to do it the right way.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I read your evidence to indicate that these Parkway contracts were one of the ways you were going to get this Marcellus gas up to the north and to the eastern delivery areas.  Did I read that correctly?


MS. PIETT:  Again, it wasn't just Marcellus gas we were interested in getting to the north, but it was a diverse supply from somewhere in the south.


MR. THOMPSON:  That includes Marcellus gas, the new, emerging sources of supply?  You were going to get that up to the north so that they wouldn't be captive to TransCanada, and that would put pressure on TransCanada to keep its tolls competitive with that alternate source of supply being delivered up there. That was the objective of those contracts, was it not?


MS. PIETT:  No.  The objective of the contracts was to supply diversity to the north and offer south-supplied gas to that, but we would never be off of the TransCanada system.  We would just be changing from short-haul -- from long-haul to short-haul for that particular volume.


But we currently serve more than half of our supply from TransCanada now, and we will -- that will be a large number for a significant amount of time.  It's just that on the margin, we were looking at changing up some options.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  You did use the word "critical" in the report or the submissions to the Board.  At page 14, you used the word "urgent".  I don't know if they're synonymous.  Then in your -- which report is this?


MS. PIETT:  We may have been referring to the bottleneck, rather than diversity.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's the natural gas market.  Are you in the natural gas market white paper or are you in the evidence?


MR. THOMPSON:  No, the natural gas -- it's page 14 of the tab 2 of Exhibit 31.6.  The heading is "The Urgent Need to Expand Parkway to Maple", and in the --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So I think there's two parts to your question.  I was going to actually add on to Ms. Piett, but I decided not to.  But she was talking about the actual contracts and diversity of supply and such.  What we talked about in the white paper, and I would say is equally true today, is the urgent need to de-bottleneck between Parkway and Maple.


That has not gone away, not changed.  We are disappointed that we could not reach agreement with TCPL on the language, but we will continue to pursue it, with TCPL and with others.


MR. THOMPSON:  This disagreement on the language, if you could just turn to your letter of January 6, 2011?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson, there is a point at which we need to move from your questions about the rationale for the withdrawal of the Parkway contracts and on to the contract that is the subject matter of this proceeding.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right after the answer to this question.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I'll give you one more question, but we do need to move on.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  I appreciate that.


If you look at that --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, which letter is that?


MR. THOMPSON:  It's the January 6th, 2011 letter, page 3 in the response.  This is to the Board's further information request.  And it would appear at this point -- the last sentence says:

"By acquiring the Parkway to EDA and NDA capacity, Union is supporting efforts to remove the Parkway to Maple bottleneck that is impeding the flow of natural gas in Ontario."


Am I correct that the dispute about all of this arose between the 6th of January and the 17th of January?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  It didn't arise then, but it took until January 17th for us to conclude that we weren't going to be able to resolve the matter.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, the exercise in this case with respect to the one contract that you're now asking the Board to approve turns on, as you indicated, the application of the Board's guidelines.  That's what you said in-chief, as I understood it.  Maybe your counsel said that in opening.


I just want to -- if you go to tab 5 of -- it's the Enbridge material, so it's Exhibit K1.5.  We have the Board's letter of April 2009 in dealing with the issuance of the final guidelines, and then we have the final guidelines as attachment A.


I take it you would be familiar with this letter and the final guidelines?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And if you look at the letter at page 3 in the second paragraph, the Board says as follows:

"The Board believes that applications for preapproval of the cost consequence of long-term contracts should be limited to those that support the development of new natural gas infrastructure.  The Board does not believe that the preapproval process should be used for the natural gas utilities' normal day-to-day contracting, renewal of existing contracts and other long-term contracts that are not related to new natural gas infrastructure.  These contracts should continue to be addressed in the utilities' rate proceedings."


You're aware of that aspect of the guidelines, are you?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then the PA that you referenced -- that Mr. Isherwood earlier -- has in the -- I believe it's clause 15 on sheet 12, the total liability of Union with respect to these Kirkwall –- this Kirkwall contract of $232,241.  What's that for?


MS. PIETT:  That is Union's cost, share of cost for the construction of those facilities, as we understand it.


MR. THOMPSON:  What are the facilities that are being constructed?  It seems like a pretty Mickey Mouse addition to something?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The TCPL has to reverse a flow in that pipeline, so that pipeline is designed today to go from Kirkwall to Niagara and Chippewa.  These contracts are anticipating the flow to get reversed and that gas to come in at Niagara or Chippewa and flow towards Kirkwall.  So TCPL would have a number of facilities along that pipeline.  I think they have two or maybe three compressors, I'm guessing.  They'd probably have to do some work at some of the compressor stations with valving and possibly some metering.


We don't know what the total cost is.  All we know is our share of that cost is at 200,000.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, but do you know what the nature of the work is?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's reversing the flow of the pipeline.


MR. THOMPSON:  Does that involve new facilities, or just changing the flanges or putting a vacuum and it blows the other way or something?  How does it work?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would definitely involve, at a minimum, valving and metering, and potentially could involve compression.  I don't know.  But definitely valving and metering.


MR. THOMPSON:  But doesn't that just fall within the business-as-usual scenario that the Board has said -- this is my interpretation -- really shouldn't be the subject matter of one of these preapproval applications, $200,000 maximum of work?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  This is a very small contract.  The total volume, I'm sure, and turnaround would be much larger than the volume we're contracting here.  This is just a small portion for a small contract.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that's my point.  What is the capacity of the Kirkwall line?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think in round numbers today, it's about one and a half bcf, round numbers.


And we know that there is presently 800,000 a day of capacity lined up at the border to come into Ontario.  And we understand that Empire's just recently done a second open season and adding about another 200,000 a day of capacity coming into Ontario.


So there's at least a bcf per day of capacity lined up at the border.


MR. THOMPSON:  But does that require -- is Kirkwall full, half-full?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Kirkwall has historically been full.  It has, as presented in the Natural Gas Market Review, we've seen some decontracting on that path in the last couple years, with the development of the Marcellus shale gas, as well as some LNG on the US northeast coast.  The US northeast market is getting more diverse supply from Marcellus and LNG, so less reliant or less dependent upon gas coming through Niagara and Chippewa.  So it has historically been full, and more recently has not been as full, especially on non-peak days.


But this is not so much the capacity of the line, historical; this is turning the line around to come in the other direction.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is there going to be new pipe added, or just change of flow?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's change of flow, as I understand it.


There may be new pipe within their stations; it's probably a better question to ask TCPL.  But it's definitely reversing the existing infrastructure.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, you say there's -- and I'll come to this in a little more detail in a moment, but there is another 800,000 coming into Niagara?  Is that producer gas?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So last fall, National Fuel Gas, Empire and Tennessee did open seasons on their systems in the US to take gas essentially from the Marcellus producing area to Niagara and Chippewa, and those open seasons were all sold out, to our knowledge.


And it produces about 800,000 a day of capacity at the US border that's pointed towards Canada, towards Ontario.


Since then, Empire's done another, second open season, and sold another 200,000 -- not sold.  They're in the process of selling another 200,000, which would make 800,000.  It would be about a bcf a day.


MR. THOMPSON:  And is that gas going to be available to Ontario consumers?  In other words, when we consider your 20,000 and 800,000 or more of gas coming in, do we really need your 20,000 for Ontario users?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It only comes if there's a buyer.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, can Union's customers buy it at Niagara?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  TCPL has an open season, so it was quite available through the open season for anybody to buy it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Buy the commodity from the producers?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, I mean to buy the pipe and the commodity.  You need to be able to transport it from the border to your market, as well, so you need to do both.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, can the Union aggregate of residential customers get access to that Marcellus gas that's coming in?  You say 20,000 of yours and 800,000 of somebody else's?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Nothing comes in until there's a buyer, so if somebody needs to contract on TransCanada to go from Niagara or Chippewa to Kirkwall or further on their system, so until somebody contracts for that path, the gas will not come in.


So TCPL and Union have done two open seasons concurrently to find a way to attract people to bring gas from Niagara-Chippewa to Ontario points.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And I thought TCPL in its submission to the Market Review panel indicated that there had been a take-up of about a bcf of --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They had interest of a bcf a day in their open season, and we had 1.2 bcf a day of interest in our open season.


And as you go through the open season process and as you ask people to sign contracts, I would suspect some of that interest has fallen away on both open seasons.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, your open season was to, what, expand Dawn-Trafalgar?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our open season was to reverse Kirkwall, which is our interconnect with TCPL, as well as to offer two new services that would be able to take that gas from Kirkwall to either Dawn and/or Parkway.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so have -- has anybody contracted for it on your system?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We're still into the process.  We still have until the end of this month to work through the process.


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I see.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  But I will say it's definitely less than 1.2 bcf a day.  And that's very normal in an open season.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the guidelines that I was referring to do have these categories of factors to be considered, needs, costs, benefits, contract diversity, risk assessment, including its allocation between ratepayers, parties to the contract, applicants, shareholders, forecasting risks, other considerations and contract.


And this is what you address or purport to address in your evidence in this case?  Am I right?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, I just wanted to understand a little bit about the chronology.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson, we'll take a break at 11:30.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If that assists.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.


And dealing firstly with the emergence of the Marcellus shale as a source of supply, when did that condition emerge?


And just to help you here in terms of what's in the record, the –- at K1.5 at tab 2 -- this is the Enbridge stuff -- there is presentation by Enbridge at tab 2, dealing with guidelines for preapproval of long-term gas supply in their upstream transportation, and at page 6 of that, they talk about -- and this is a 2008 presentation.  They talk about shale production in the US and Canada forecasting to increase by 5 bcf.


In response to Enbridge's IRs, there's a report, PIRA study, and I don't need to turn it up, but it's a March 2010 study that talks about a previous one released on September 2009.  When did Union start looking at the Marcellus shale as either of a source of supply or a source of gas to be carried from its system down into Dawn and perhaps into storage?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'll answer from the point of view of transportation.  We first started seeing some impacts at Kirkwall in terms of a changing market dynamic.  I think it was either April or May of '09 was the first time we saw it.


And there is actually a graph in the market review presentation that we did that showed a sudden drop actually in Kirkwall's take away, which was a very sudden drop, and that was tied partly to Marcellus and partly tied to some LNG, and it's been downward since, actually.


We have read about it for much longer than that, but in terms of actually seeing impacts, it would have been April '09, and we would be talking to TCPL about doing open seasons in the fall, early winter of '09, and their first open season in the winter of '10.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And at some point in this process you, as I recall it, applied to the Board to approve some changes to the C1 rate and the M12 rate?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that was approximately when, when you applied?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't know the exact date.  It was late last spring, early summer, and I think the Board decision was September, October time frame.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That happened in 2010, for sure.  I don't have the dates exactly right.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's close enough.  And the evidence at -- your evidence at page 4 and 5 - this is the prefiled evidence at pages 4 and 5 - indicates that, starting at the bottom of page 4:

"A seamless path for this supply to flow in Ontario via TCPL and through to the Dawn hub now exists."


And that was said to be subject to the approval of Union's new C1 and M12X services.  That evidence I think was dated October 5th, and perhaps the approval came just after that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just after that, it was, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And does that mean that some of this supply can move into Ontario now without any new facilities?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  The provision of those two services, the C1, M12X, is still conditional upon facilities.


MR. THOMPSON:  What facilities?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  In Union's case, it's actually the facilities to reverse the Kirkwall meter station.


MR. THOMPSON:  Same type of thing that's going on at Kirkwall?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, the evidence -- your evidence, Exhibit A, appendix D, refers to an Energy and Environmental analysis.  This was a study that was done, as I understand it, that helped you with your landed cost calculations in your prefiled evidence?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And it turns out that Energy and Environmental are the same entity as ICF; is that correct?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And ICF was the entity that produced a report that was the basis for the Board's Natural Gas Market Review?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.  Two separate studies, I believe.  We have hired ICF to do work for us in the past, and we know they also did a report for the Natural Gas Market Review on behalf of the Board.


MR. THOMPSON:  Were they working concurrently for you and the Board?


MS. PIETT:  We have used them on occasion.  I don't know if they were doing our work at the same time or not, but they were two different --


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  It's not clear to me how it's relevant in any event.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then the Natural Gas Market Review had initiated in the summer of 2010, and a number of questions were framed for the Board's consideration.  And you'll find those in CME's brief at tab 1.  I'd ask you to take a look and see if you agree with me these are the questions the Board framed for that process?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They are.


MR. THOMPSON:  And would you agree with me that the answers to those questions may have some relevance to the Board's determination in this case?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  As I understand it, the Board was seeing the change in the Ontario marketplace and the broader North American marketplace, and the market review was really called to discuss these four questions, which frames what is the impact in Ontario, whether there's opportunity or concerns.


So the questions are very much tied to Marcellus and other new supplies coming on, and how that may affect flows in and through and around Ontario.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you see the questions as important to a disposition of matters raised in this case or a completely unrelated matter?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it's a parallel path, I think.


MR. THOMPSON:  Just in terms of the TCPL open season, that was going on while all this was going on, and there is an interrogatory response dealing with that, CME Interrogatory No. 1.  I just draw your attention to this before we break.  It's Exhibit B2.1.


MS. PIETT:  We have it.


MR. THOMPSON:  This is the TransCanada's open season that was revised July the 9th, and it talks about the new service opportunities, I guess I would describe it.  Down about the middle of the page, it says:

"Transportation services to commence September 1, 2011 or later for paths with the receipt point of Niagara or Chippewa and a delivery point of Dawn Union SWDA, St. Clair or Kirkwall."


And you bid for Niagara Kirkwall; right?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Could you tell me how the TCPL open season -- what assets TCPL uses to provide service all the way down to Dawn Union SWDA?  Is that its contract with Union?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be their existing contracts or potentially new M12X or C1 contracts, depending on what's happening in our system.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so did you have a parallel open season going with -- in respect to M12 expansion?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  There are actually two open seasons that dealt with Marcellus gas in 2010, one in sort of late winter, early spring, and then this one.  And in both cases, Union and TCPL tried to do it at about the same time to give people the opportunity to get the whole path through to Dawn or through to other points in Ontario.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then the second category of service offered was the transportation services to commence November 1, 2013 for all other paths on the Canadian main line system, including paths out of Parkway.  And that's the bids you put in on Parkway to -- the MDA and Parkway to the EDA; right?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And why the difference in dates commencing 2011 in one case, 2013 in another?  Can you help us with that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If they chose to expand out of Parkway, there is more facilities required.  I think the construction from on the Niagara to Kirkwall system is simpler.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  This would be a convenient time to break, Mr. Chairman.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will adjourn until ten minutes to.  It's our intention to go through to 1 o'clock, break at 1:00, probably resume at 2:00.  Our expectation is that we will obviously conclude the evidentiary portion of these cases today, and hopefully get to argument.


The Board is probably prepared to stay until we accomplish those goals today.  So parties can keep that in mind.  Thank you.  We'll come back at ten to.


--- Recess taken at 11:32 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:58 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Panel, I wanted to move to the landed cost analysis at a high level, but before I do, under the contract now that you're -- the one contract that you're asking the Board to approve to bring 20,000 decatherms in at Niagara, will consumers in the northern delivery area and the eastern delivery area in Union's system benefit from the gas you're propose to buy at Niagara?


MS. PIETT:  That gas that we buy in Niagara will be solely for the south portfolio.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So the landed cost analysis -- let me just back up.


Is there some reason why you can't get that up to the north?


MS. PIETT:  At this time, all of the gas that we serve to our north customers is sourced from Empress.  If something changes from now to 2011 and we're able to source the north from Dawn, then Marcellus would be a part of that supply.


But at this time, considering our current contracts, all gas to the north is sourced and charged to customers from Empress.


MR. THOMPSON:  Can Marcellus gas get to Dawn without going through Niagara-Chippewa?


MS. PIETT:  Not physically, as far as I know.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It possibly could through some weird combination of pipes, but it's not a very direct path.  The more direct path is through Niagara-Chippewa.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that at a high level, this gas that you're proposing to buy is not going to benefit the people in those delivery areas without some -- either you get some service from TransCanada that you're happy to move it up there, or with the -- they build something that you're insisting upon?


Do I understand that correctly?


MS. PIETT:  I think that's directionally okay, but as we all know that -- the gas, once it's on any system, commingles with other gas that's there.  So to the extent that there's more plentiful gas at Dawn, it may provide some options to TransCanada at any time to provide a displacement of one source of gas with another.


So to say that it has absolutely no effect for the rest of the market is a bit of a stretch, but notionally, the gas that we buy from Marcellus at this time is intended to serve the south portfolio, and that's the way we would stream the costs of it, as well.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Okay.  So then the landed cost analysis you're doing for this particular contract, the first one you provide is Exhibit –- sorry, Exhibit A, appendix D?


MS. PIETT:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's for points on Union's system in Union south; is that right?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So the TCPL Niagara landed cost analysis you do here deals with the Niagara point, does it?  Or is that -- what is the point on Union's system that that landed cost analysis relates to?  Is it where Kirkwall meets the Union system?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then these other -- these other points, I believe, would be at Dawn; is that right?


MS. PIETT:  They arrive at different locations.  The panhandle long-haul and the trunk line panhandle actually arrives at Ojibway, a different location, and the TCPL SWDA arrives at Parkway.


MR. THOMPSON:  At Parkway.  Thank you.


All right.  So in terms of the --


MS. PIETT:  Oh, excuse me.  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  I thought SWDA meant Dawn, but --


MS. PIETT:  Yes.  I'm sorry, it does.  I stand corrected.  It arrives at Dawn.


MR. THOMPSON:  And should there be a -- would it be different at Parkway?


MS. PIETT:  The charge would be different.  The two toll charges are different.


MR. THOMPSON:  Would the landed cost number be different?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And can you tell us what it is?


MS. PIETT:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is there some reason why you can't?


MS. PIETT:  I just don't have that in front of me.


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I see.


MS. PIETT:  You're looking at the south, and we've sourced it out at Dawn.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, would it be higher or lower than the number at Dawn?


MS. PIETT:  Parkway is a more expensive point than Dawn, so it would be higher.


MR. THOMPSON:  Higher?  Okay.


Now, in terms of factors the Board has to consider and the impacts of your proposal on TCPL, as well as the landed cost analysis, the TCPL tolls are a factor that come into play there; correct?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the -- you have assumed in the initial filing that TCPL's tolls as they then were would remain constant throughout 10 years.  That would be their short-haul and long-haul tolls would remain constant; correct?


MS. PIETT:  That's the assumption we made, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in the context of the facts that are taking place, is that a reasonable assumption, when we all know that TCPL tolls are in a state of uncertainty?


MS. PIETT:  It is certainly an assumption that may have a range of error around it, but we don't know what that range is.  So in understanding the difficulties before TransCanada right now in terms of their tolls, we don't know what the future tolls will be.


So when we were doing our analysis -- in fact, in our answer to the additional questions asked by the Board -- we provided the tolls given two different scenarios.


One is the proposed settlement that TCPL had put forward, and that was rejected as interim tolls.


And then we also put forward that if they simply redid their 2011 tolls using the current methodology with the new billing determinants, the rates would go up much higher.


So we presented the full range of possibilities.  Where it may go in between that, we don't know, and certainly where it goes for 10 years is even more uncertain.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, but in terms of the risk of that error, you're suggesting that rests with ratepayers?  You don't know what it is, and you're saying:  We really don't care, because it's not our problem?


That's your proposal?


MS. PIETT:  I've certainly never said I don't care, because we care very much.  And we're a member of the tolls task force, to try to do the best thing we can for our ratepayers.  So we're very involved in what the tolls will be and trying to think of creative solutions, us and others, on what TCPL may consider.


But in terms of where those rates may go, we don't know.  And it's the same as the rest of our supply routes; we don't know where those tolls may go, and we don't know what the source of supply at those locations will be, either.


And that's exactly why we like to have a diversified portfolio, so that if one location gets more expensive or less expensive, we can average all that in and have a blended cost that's reasonable.


MR. THOMPSON:  From the point of view of one of the factors the Board has, risk allocation as between ratepayers and shareholders, you're proposing that any risks associated with the TCPL toll changes, whether it's long-haul or short-haul or a combination, rest with ratepayers?  Union is not prepared to shoulder any of that risk, under your proposal?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that is why?


MS. PIETT:  That is the business model under which the system supply business operates, in that we do our best job to source a prudent supply of gas on an ongoing basis for our customers.  To the extent that that portfolio, in the end, the value materializes or doesn't, it is passed on to customers.


But to the same extent, if the portfolio presents tremendous value beyond what we had even anticipated, then we don't share in that reward, either.


So it's a pass-through cost, and that's the business model.  So we don't earn on it, but we also don't take the risk.


MR. THOMPSON:  But when you asked the Board to approve a long-term contract, my understanding is that you have some obligation to show whether there will be net benefits or net costs to ratepayers of the 10-year program that you're proposing.


And I suggest to you you can't possibly do that in this case because you don't know what the TCPL toll outcomes are going to be.


MS. PIETT:  We are presenting the best view of what we know now, and we're asking that, given the times that we know now and the situation, that we're putting forward a prudent request of approval, and if the Board deems that we're taking an unusual amount of risk, then I'm sure we'll hear about that.


But at this time, I'm not sure that the risk is any different on this route than it is on any of our existing routes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, just in terms of the TCPL toll situation, the application that TCPL filed for interim tolls, that's found at tab 5 of Exhibit K1.6.  I'm sure you're familiar with it.


And then following the filing of that application, there was some correspondence filed by interested parties, and I've attached some of that at tab 6.


I've included the EGD letter to the Board, as well as Union's letter to the Board and the letter to the Board from the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers.


There were letters from others, but those are the three that I have included here, and I just wanted to try and understand what Union is trying to achieve in this process in terms of TCPL tolls.  And if you wouldn't mind looking at the tab 6, it's the Enbridge letter, and the Enbridge letter is also attached to an interrogatory response of these proceedings.


The reason I draw your attention to this is it does give some numbers for the interim toll compared to the existing toll, and you'll see in the middle of the page they say the current toll, at the bottom, is 1.6381 dollars per gJ.  Is that your understanding?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, it is.


MR. THOMPSON:  And in terms of the -- with fuel and everything else, I think that shows up in your appendix -- well, does it show up in your appendix as dollar -- appendix A -- Exhibit A, appendix F, under TCPL EDA from Empress, you have at 100 percent load factor transportation inclusive of fuel US firm and BTU one-eighty-one-ninety-four.  Is that the fuel equivalent of the 1.6381?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe yes.


MS. PIETT:  It's also in U.S. dollars firm and BTU, so slightly different units.


MR. THOMPSON:  I understand.  I just want to make sure we're talking about the same thing.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  I'm wondering if Mr. Thompson might be able to explain how this is relevant, given the contract we're talking about doesn't involve TCPL decontracting.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, sorry.  I know it involves landed costs using TCPL tolls.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  So your questions are directed at the comparators?


MR. THOMPSON:  My questions are directed at the toll uncertainty with respect to TCPL, which, my submission, has an impact on the ten-year time frame that we're looking at here, and trying to understand what the end state with respect to those tolls that Union is advocating in its letter to the Board, which you'll find under tab 6.


As I say, it's also in Union's evidence in this case.  Union says:

"It was Union's understanding that the intent of the discussion was to develop a sustainable solution."


It then goes on and talks about its concerns, and its objection is the failure of the proposal to provide a sustainable long-term solution.  I would like to know what Union says is the sustainable long-term solution to the TCPL tolls, because they are a factor of importance in the calculations here, and we may well suggest as a condition that that position be pursued at the NEB, or wherever else.  I have to know what it is first.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  I'm still struggling with the relevance of Union's ideas about potential solutions and their relevance to this application and seeking preapproval of the costs associated with this contract.


MR. THOMPSON:  It's relevant to Exhibit A, appendix F, which has a TCPL toll calculation -- sorry, appendix A, Exhibit D, the TCPL calculation I want to understand.  And it's also relevant to these calculations that the witness is talking about that are included with the -- I believe it's the -- it's either the January 6th letter or the January 17th letter.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  I think the witnesses have already said their ability to from predict tolls into the future is an estimate and it's subject to a range of error.  It is not clear to me how their position on potential solutions to toll issues has additional bearing.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, as I say, I may suggest that it should be a condition to any order this Board grants to require Union to pursue a position at NEB that it keeps short-haul tolls low and has long-haul tolls into the northern and -- delivery area and the eastern delivery area at a level that will make sure TransCanada's deliveries are competitive.


I don't know if I can be any more help to you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think we're stretching a bit, Mr. Thompson.  It seems to me a discussion of tolls is useful in terms of the comparison, and I think the witnesses have indicated that their ability to actually -- especially in the -- given the sort of recent events surrounding TransCanada tolls, it's difficult to come to any kind of definitive understanding about what the tolls are going to be in the relevant period.


That may well be a point of argument, but I'm not sure that we need to get into it in much more detail than that.  The witnesses have indicated they don't know, and I'm not sure that -- I think that's a very straightforward position and answer.


I'm not sure that anybody is in a position at this stage to know where those tolls are going.  And to the extent that the tolls are important in our overall analysis of the advisability of approving the cost consequences of this specific contract, I'm not sure that it helps us a great deal.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let me try and confine it, Mr. Chair.  I'll try and get an explanation of what's in Union's evidence.


There are two statements I would like to draw your attention to, witness panel.  One is in the January 6, 2011 letter where you presented the analysis, the landed cost analysis for the north contracts, as well as Niagara contracts.


Under the 2010 current tolls, the $1.33 that was the long-haul proposition of TCPL -- I'm looking at page 2, and then you have the two-ninety-one, which was the alternative full long-haul toll.  Do you see that?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then over on the page, you say this:

"TCPL status quo tolls represent an extreme high end of the spectrum, while settlement proposal tolls represent an extreme low end of the spectrum and are not expected to be in place for an extended period of time."


I want to ask you what you mean by that.  And the second thing I wanted to ask you about is with respect to the letter that Union wrote to the NEB December 17, 2010, and that's also I believe part of this January 6th material, and then, further over, December 17, 2010, where you say:

"The specific concerns expressed by Union included, firstly, the proposed toll methodology changes which would shift the burden of long-haul cost to short-haul service path, and, secondly, the proposal to provide sustainable long-term solutions."


So my question of you is:  What is the sustainable long-term solution that Union is advocating in the context of these brackets that you've described in the -- at page 3 of January 6th, 2011 letter?  Can you help us with that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Let me start by the long-term sustainability concern that we have.


When we look at the TCPL proposal, there is a number of elements.  It's a very complex proposal, to be honest.  And that was part of the -- Mr. Thompson, of your filing last night as well, at least the application part of it, with -- the other tab's not attached, but it's very complex.


The one thing that makes the 1.33 toll, which I think –- or 1.35 toll, which Enbridge references in their letter, the price to go from Empress to Toronto or to Enbridge CDA, as it's referred to on TCPL, is going from $1.63 down to $1.35.  And that's attained through a whole bunch of things happening, but one of the major things that's happening is there's a bunch of costs being brought out of the system and being deferred into the future.  And if you look at the cost that's coming out of the system over the three years of the settlement, '11, '12 and '13, it's about 1.3, $1.4 billion that's coming out of system cost and being pushed to the future.


So the good news is we get a very sustainable, very low firm rate to get to Toronto from Empress for three years, and our concern is what happens beyond that.


So you no longer have those methods of deferring costs; they are no longer available, plus you've pushed all that cost to the future and now needs to start to get recovered.


So we're concerned with what happens beyond that.


That's why in our application we talked about the different ends of the spectrum.  No one knows what happens in 2014.  If you look at TCPL's application, we get some sense what's going to happen in '11, '12 and '13, but '14 is not known.  So it's not a long-term sustainable solution.


I think IGUA and others view it as being you're really buying a two- or three-year period to come to terms as an industry on what is a long-term solution.  And a number of parties have thrown out options, and at this point in time there is really nothing long-term that's been agreed to by TransCanada or the industry.


But this is definitely creating a period where that can be discussed and hopefully resolved.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So I understand it better now, so that I guess if those tolls were continuing, in other words, the structure was continuing -- it was a write-off, in other words, long-term, that would be something that would fall within your sustainable criterion?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think there are two solutions, long-term.


Either a lot more supply in Alberta to refill the main line, or there needs to be a way to restructure costs or find a way to reduce costs.


I was more alluding to that when I said people have thrown ideas and at this point nothing has really been agreed to.


But we will have '11, '12 and '13 to kind of explore those ideas.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, the -- in the material that we provided, there are two -- this is, sorry, Exhibit K1.6, tab 8.


There is a Globe and Mail article that appeared when TransCanada filed its interim proposal, and then there is another one that appeared -- I think it was just Tuesday the 18th of this week, which is at tab 9, indicating that TransCanada is rethinking their position.


Can you tell us where matters stand in terms of progress towards a sustainable solution?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think when the NEB denied the application in terms of having the interim tolls reflect the application that TCPL presented, the NEB encouraged parties to reconvene in dialogue and discussion, and I believe TCPL's embarking on that path at the current moment.


So I think that's why they're quoted as being -- they're rethinking it or they're out talking to people.  They have not yet filed their formal application for final rates, and my understanding is they're allowing time here to talk to interested parties, including customers and producers and other interested parties, and hopefully come up with a resolution before having to file final –- final tolls.


MR. THOMPSON:  So have discussions resumed?  Is Union part of that process now?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We're hoping to meet with TCPL next week, actually.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  All right.  Now, in terms of disposition options -- this is the last area of my examination with respect to this application -- we'll all consider the factors to be considered.


But I wanted to just come back to the precedent agreement, to understand what happens if the Board doesn't issue a decision before January -- or on January 30th of 2010.  The January 30th date, is that specified in the PA somewhere?  The 30th or the 31st?


MS. PIETT:  It's January 31st, is the effective date, and it is in the PA.  And I just will need a moment to find it if you need that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Can you help us, Mr. --


MS. PIETT:  I see actually they describe the effective date in the definitions as J.  It says:

"Effective date shall mean January 31st, 2011."


That's on page four.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, am I correct, Mr. Isherwood, that -- at least I couldn't find it.  This precedent agreement is not conditional on the Board decision?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So all there is is this effective date, and that, as I understand it, means the date before which you can cancel without moving into the event-of-cancellation provisions of the contract; is that right?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so the -- in terms of your ability to -- or the company's ability to cancel the contract, am I correct that under clause 10, you can withdraw your request for the requested services at any time prior to the execution of the firm transportation service contract?  Is that your understanding, Mr. --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that will be executed once the new facilities are -- or the facilities that are contemplated here are available for service?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So that would be a date of September –- it's currently forecast September 2011?


MS. PIETT:  The in-service date has been revised to November 1, 2012.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So November 1, 2012.  So we've got a year and some there?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what happens if you cancel is -- your maximum exposure is under paragraph 15, which is this $232,241?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is that -- Mr. Isherwood, I'm asking you.  Is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, Ms. Piett is responsible for the contract.


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I thought it was your counsel was speaking.  I'm sorry, Ms. Piett.  No wonder I was slow.


Now, the -- do you have any idea how that number gets built up?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.  They provide us a schedule of when they expect to spend that money.  It's an estimate only.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MS. PIETT:  And it's provided as well, so the $232,000 represents our portion of the total capital cost of the project.  We don't know what the full cost of the project is, but if we were to cancel, we would be responsible to pay up to our share of that, which would be 232,000, and the cost would ramp up over the term between now and the in-service date.


MR. THOMPSON:  Does the schedule show how they ramp up?


MS. PIETT:  Yes, it does, but it's an estimate.


MR. THOMPSON:  I understand that.  But would it be possible to file a copy of that schedule, undertake to file a copy of that schedule?


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Maybe just so I'm clear, what's the relevance?  I mean, it was my understanding that the issue of the timing had been resolved this morning.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the timing of argument.  But I may well argue -- I don't know -- that the application should be adjourned until some of these uncertainties are known, in which case the company would have the option of reacting to that.  I think the Board should know if that relief were to be granted and the company did not cancel by January 30th, what the financial consequences might be.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board considers the consequences of rejection of the contract, the consequences of not arriving at a decision by the 31st, to be relevant considerations.  So we would be interested in seeing what those cost consequences look like.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  We'll undertake to file it.


MS. HELT:  That will be noted as undertaking J1.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1: TO PROVIDE COST CONSEQUENCES OF NOT ARRIVING AT A DECISION BY THE JANUARY 31, 2011.


MR. THOMPSON:  With that, I'm done.  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you, witness panel.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Warren?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  If I could begin by briefly understanding the cost consequences of the cancellation of the contract.  The $232,000 figure, if you could just remind me, panel.  The cost consequence is your portion of the estimated costs of whatever it is that TCPL is going to do; is that right?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And your evidence was that you don't know the total cost of what TCPL is going to do?


MS. PIETT:  No.  They haven't advised us of that.


MR. WARREN:  And then how can you tell the Board whether or not your portion of it is a reasonable portion?


MS. PIETT:  We're relying on what TransCanada has given to us.


MR. WARREN:  And that's your best evidence today, is you're relying what somebody else told you that your portion is a reasonable one; is that right?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, if you could turn up, please, the Board's guidelines, which are contained in the April 23, 2009 letter? Do you have those?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  I just want to understand, as a follow-up to a question from my friend, Mr. Thompson, if you could turn to the Board's letter at page 3?  Now, am I right, Mr. Isherwood -- I don't know that you're the one to answer this.  Am I right, Mr. Isherwood, that the infrastructure - that is, the pipelines - from the United States into Canada or Canada into the United States already exists; is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm not sure.  Your question went both directions there.  So the pipeline is going where to where?


MR. WARREN:  The pipelines between here and the United States exist now; have I got that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, Union Gas is Dawn to Kirkwall, and TCPL, Kirkwall to Niagara and Chippewa.


MR. WARREN:  And so what is new are whatever adjustments are going to be made to this pipeline in order to reverse the flow; is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Physically that's correct, and on Union Gas's system, the two new services we asked for Board approval on are new, as well.


MR. WARREN:  And do I understand that your position, Mr. Isherwood, in terms of compliance with the guidelines, is that these adjustments to existing pipelines constitute new natural gas infrastructure; is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, I would go back to the TCPL open season documentation, which was one of the exhibits here.  We can turn to it if you need to, but TCPL did the open season under the premise it was new capacity, and in their situation new capacity requires a ten-year contract.  If it was existing capacity, it would be a one-year rolling contract.


So the premise all began with the open season.


MR. WARREN:  I want to understand what Union's position is in terms of new natural gas infrastructure.  Is the new natural gas infrastructure that's the basis of your application the adjustments that are being made to an existing pipeline?  Is that the position?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think, as I just mentioned, it's TCPL's positioning with an open season that it's calling it new capacity and we responded to that.  If their open season was for existing capacity, a one-year contract, we wouldn't be here today, but it's a long-term contract based on new facilities being installed.


MR. WARREN:  And new facilities are what you consider to be new natural gas infrastructure; is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think I'm saying TCPL is considering that.  We are basing it off that.


MR. WARREN:  So, once again, here you're relying on TCPL's definition of what constitutes new natural gas infrastructure in support of your position; is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, as I understand it, the -- I apologize for the primitive nature of these questions.  Is the Marcellus gas ready to flow into Canada now?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  On the U.S. side, one of the pipelines, Empire Pipeline, will have facilities in place later in 2011.  The other two pipelines, being National Fuel Gas and Tennessee, are targeting 2012.


I believe TCPL is targeting 2012 now, as well, and Union Gas is targeting 2012, as well.


MR. WARREN:  I apologize, Mr. Isherwood, again for my ignorance of this, but I make a distinction between the gas which is produced or taken from the Marcellus field on the one hand, and the pipeline infrastructure on the other hand.  Is the gas from the Marcellus field ready to flow as soon as the pipelines are ready?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Marcellus gas is flowing today.


MR. WARREN:  It's not yet flowing to Canada, because the pipelines haven't been built; is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, in that context, I wonder if you could turn up a response an interrogatory from my friend Mr. Thompson's client.  It's Exhibit B2.19.  Do you have that, Panel?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes, we do.


MR. WARREN:  The question that was asked was:

"What are the supply risks relating to the production of Marcellus shale gas as opposed to the delivery of such gas at Niagara?"


And you list the following supply risks relating to the production of Marcellus shale gas:  Overall market demand, infrastructure capacity, price of natural gas, ability to obtain lease positions, rate and oil field services availability, regulatory and environmental restrictions such as fractionation, chemical restrictions to avoid ground water contamination, moratoriums or restrictions on drilling due to environmental concerns, increased taxes, such as new severance taxes.


Am I to understand the response to that interrogatory that any one or all of those factors may impede the flow of Marcellus gas into Canada?


MS. PIETT:  These risks are no different than any other greenfield project that we're aware of, and it's true they're all risks.  We think that they are small risks on our behalf.


The amount of gas that ICF is forecasting for 2012 to be produced out of the Marcellus Basin is approximately 2 bcf a day.  We require 0.5 percent of that to meet our contract with our Niagara short-haul load.


So the amount of gas we require is very, very small compared to what's probably going to be produced in the Marcellus Basin.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, panel, I wonder if I could get back to the question I asked you, which is:  Are the risks which are listed in response to this interrogatory risks which, if they materialize, would impede the flow of Marcellus gas into Canada? Yes or no?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I could maybe take a try at this answer.  We do rely a lot on ICF in terms of forecasts of supply basins, that type of thing.  In the ICF forecast, as Ms. Piett noted, there are significant volumes of gas being produced in their forecast in 2012 and growing through the 2020 period.


In their forecasts, they're already allowing for some environmental issues arising.  It's quite common; it's in the press daily.  So the question really is, if environmental issues are less than ICF is projecting, then you get more Marcellus production.  If the environmental restrictions are higher, then you'll get a little bit less.


But, directionally, it's being produced today and their base forecast, which assumes some of these things happening in some degree, and it's still growing to very large numbers very quickly.


MR. WARREN:  Panel, I wonder if you could go back to the Board's guidelines and look at attachment A to the Board's letter?  And if I look at number (iv), "Risk Assessment", and I'm quoting:

"Identification of all the risks (such as forecasting risks, construction and operational risks, commercial risks and regulatory risks) and plans on how these risks are to be minimized and allocated between ratepayers, parties to the contract or/or applicant shareholders."


Now, first of all, I take it that we can agree that whether or not they are, in your view, at a high level or a low level, the risks which are itemized in response to the CME's interrogatory are risks?  Can we agree with that?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And can you and I agree that in your prefiled evidence, these risks are (a) not itemized, and (b) there is no description how they're mitigated?  Can we agree on that?


MS. PIETT:  No.


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me where in your prefiled evidence these risks are identified and you describe how you mitigate them?


MS. PIETT:  In our prefiled evidence on page 3 of 14 toward the bottom of that page, there is a title called "Need, Benefit, Costs, Risks, Mitigation".  So that's exactly what we were trying do, is identify what those risks are, the size of the risk, and then how we might mitigate it, given its size.


And it's all there, but I think I can summarize that by saying that we did list all the risks that we could think of, and the bottom line is that we thought these were all risks we could manage.


And how we would do that is we have a 20,000-a-day pipeline coming in from Niagara.  We expect that the supply at that location has the potential to be well in excess of one bcf a day, so we would require less than 1 percent of that.


So we think that the risk of non-supply is very, very small.  In the event, though, that for some reason that supply did not show up and this point became completely useless to us, the sunk demand cost is nine cents right now, and compared to other our supply locations, such as might come from Empress, that toll is a $1.64.  So in relative scales, this is a very, very small demand charge.  It's the smallest demand charge that we have on our system in all of our supply portfolio.


So that –- very worst-case scenario, that is the size of the risk, but we just can't even see that materializing.


MR. WARREN:  I just want to stay with the question I asked you, which -- and you directed me to Exhibit A, page 4 of 14.  And you've listed -- you say:

"When deciding to acquire this capacity, Union took the following into consideration."


And you list eight items; have I got that correctly?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  And can you tell me where in those eight items I am to find the list of risks which you've -- in Exhibit B2, tab 19?


I don't see them there anywhere.  Am I missing something?


MS. PIETT:  Can you repeat your question?


MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  My question was in the eight items that I see on pages 4 and 5 of 14 in your prefiled evidence, I'm looking for the list of risks that are listed in Exhibit B2.19.


I don't see them.  Can you tell me where they are?


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  I think I might be able to assist.  I don't think they're at the point in the evidence that we're looking at.  I think supply risks are addressed on page 7.  I don't think the list is itemized in the same way, but I think that's where supply risk is discussed.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Let me take you to the page that your counsel directed me to, which is page 7 of 14 under the supply risk, and tell me if anywhere on page 7 or following, are the risks identified in B 2.19 itemized?


I don't want to beat this horse until it's –- there's no flesh.  I don't find them anywhere, panel.


Can we agree with that?  It's pretty straightforward.


MS. PIETT:  I think you're asking for us to marry up evidence we supplied in an IR with our prefiled evidence, and we certainly -- those are evidence provided at two different locations, and we didn't completely repeat in the IR what we had in the evidence, or we would have referred people to the evidence.


So that was new evidence that we provided in response to an IR.  What the prefiled evidence tried to address was generally what is the size of the risk and how would we mitigate it, and as I said in my statement, I don't think, in my opinion, that the risk is large.


We're talking a small-volume contract coming out of a very abundant basin, and I think that's where our evidence is, is that it is a risk, it's a small risk, and if we were to come upon that reality that gas was not available for some reason, then we would do what we could to mitigate it and buy the supply elsewhere.


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me this, panel?  When I look at the interrogatory response, the six or seven items that are listed there, how did you come up with that list?  Is that your list or did somebody else supply you with that list?


MS. PIETT:  Which list are you talking to now, sir?


MR. WARREN:  Exhibit B2.19; that's the CME Interrogatory Response No. 19.


You have a detailed list of -- I can count them.  I think eight or nine risks on the production of the Marcellus shale gas.  Where did you get that list?


MS. PIETT:  That is a list that came from our own group, the sorts of risks that would be prevalent in any supply basin, particularly a new supply basin.


MR. WARREN:  So you did not –-


MS. PIETT:  Common knowledge.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  Did you investigate whether or not those risks were particular to the Marcellus shield –- Marcellus shale gas?  Or is that just a sort of generic list that somebody provided to you with respect to production from any greenfield operation?  Is that how we're supposed to understand it.


MS. PIETT:  We have followed the development of the Marcellus basin for some time.  I mean, there's probably not a day goes by where we wouldn't read an article about what's happening in the Marcellus field.


So it's general information that my group would have, and probably many of us in the group could come up with a list like that in any given day.


But in response to your question, it is a generic list, because the list isn't really that different than any other new supply basin that we would come across.


MR. WARREN:  And did you -- finally on this point, panel -- did you investigate individually whether or not -- sorry, did you investigate whether any of the particular items on this list are a more significant one than the other?  For example, the environmental restrictions, can you tell the Board what you know about the environmental restrictions risk out of the Marcellus shale field?  Or did you investigate that?


MS. PIETT:  We didn't do a particular investigation ourselves.  It's been a topic of the news over the last year or more, probably more, because it has been a concern in that area.


But our view is that we are relying on the authorities that are experts in that area, to determine if that gas can be produced in that region, and any indication we have is that there has been some obstacles but they appear to be overcome and gas will flow.  The exact amount of gas, we don't know, and we rely on ICF to predict that for us.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I will say from business development point of view, we have sent people down to Marcellus shale, both to conferences and to actually tour the area, as well, with producers.


And certainly the environmental ones are top of mind for a lot of people, the ones that make headlines most often, and we're comfortable that to the extent that the producers are following environmental guidelines, Marcellus will continue to develop.


The stories you hear is an individual producer that missed a guideline or something and gets shut down.  That's sort of the headline news, but generally speaking, talking to producers there, they're responsible, they feel they can work within the guidelines being developed for them, and that that field will continue to develop.


MR. WARREN:  When you refer, Ms. Piett, in your response to me to your relying on authorities, what do you mean by "authorities"?  Who are they?


MS. PIETT:  The authorities that are responsible for the environmental regulations and the implementation of those.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, and you've been provided with an opinion from the, have you, about the likelihood that the environmental issues are going to be resolved and the shale has --


MS. PIETT:  No.


MR. WARREN:  No?


MS. PIETT:  No.


MR. WARREN:  So what are you relying on?


MS. PIETT:  I'm simply relying on the fact that the gas wouldn't flow unless it was passed by the authorities.


MR. WARREN:  Now, in the event -- I just want to understand the risks involved in that, and two categories of risk -- in the event that Marcellus shale gas does not flow for whatever reason, you've signed the contract and TCPL has done its work, is there a risk that Union bears in the event that Marcellus shale gas for whatever reason can't flow?  And if so, what's the nature of that risk?


MS. PIETT:  Is there a –- pardon me, could you rephrase the question?


MR. WARREN:  If you signed the contract, the adjustments are made to the existing infrastructure, but for whatever reason the shale gas can't flow -- let's say for the purposes of the question that there is an environmental concern which precludes production of sufficient amount of flow into Canada -- is there a risk to Union?  And if so, what's the risk?  Do you bear, for example, unabsorbed demand charges, in the circumstance where the gas doesn't flow?


MS. PIETT:  Union Gas is at risk, on behalf of its ratepayers, to pay 10 years of demand charges on that pipe, so right now that's around $600,000 per year.


So whether we use that pipe or not, that's the size of the risk.


MR. WARREN:  So if the gas doesn't flow, you bear that risk?


MS. PIETT:  We do, but what we would always do, as the case with any pipe that we wouldn't be using, we would do our best to mitigate the cost of that by releasing that pipe into the market, or perhaps TransCanada would look to re-purpose that pipe and offer that pipe to run in a different way.


MR. WARREN:  And the same risk would obtain if, for example, the pipes on the US side of it weren't built, or weren't built on time?  Gas couldn't flow, there would be unabsorbed demand charge, you'd have to pay; correct?  That's a risk?


MS. PIETT:  Union Gas would be responsible for the demand charges, and they would be passed on to our system customers.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Just one last question I have, and it flows from the first exchange you had with Mr. Thompson this morning.  And I apologize for not being as familiar as I ought to be with the details of Union's distribution system.


How does the gas that gets -- will get to Kirkwall, how is it to be distributed to your service territory thereafter, given the withdrawal of these other two applications?


MS. PIETT:  The gas that we would receive at Kirkwall that would come from the Niagara location would be absorbed into our system on the Dawn to Parkway system, and depending on the time of year and the flows across their system, that gas would be commingled with the rest of the gas.  And it could either flow toward Dawn or toward a different market area.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Thank you very much, panel.  Those are my questions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Cameron, are you next?


MR. CAMERON:  I don't know if I'm next.  I'm prepared to go.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please.  Now, we're looking at breaking at 1 o'clock.  How long do you expect your examination to take?


MR. CAMERON:  I would have said 10 or 15 minutes.  I don't know if Mr. Wolnik has any questions.  I think probably the applicants would appreciate it, acknowledging it's your schedule, Mr. Chair, if we could wrap up the cross-examination before lunch so that they could prepare their arguments.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We still have Enbridge's panel to hear.  Mr. Wolnik, what is your timing?


MR. WOLNIK:  I have about 10 or 15 minutes, as well.


MS. HELT:  And Board Staff will have about 10 or 15 minutes, depending on what questions are asked.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. MacIntosh?


MR. CAMERON:  I'll go and we'll see where that takes us.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. CAMERON:  I'll pause, Mr. Chair, because Mr. Warren made what might have been a facetious comment, but a fair one, which is:  What business does TransCanada have cross-examining Union when it is a counter-party to the contract for which approval is being sought?  And I can just assure you this is not sweetheart cross-examination.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board has not developed a rigorous practice with respect to inhibiting cross-examination, even sweetheart cross-examinations.  That may be something that will come in time, but please proceed.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Cameron:


MR. CAMERON:  Mr. Isherwood, you mentioned that this process began with TransCanada advertising an open season for new capacity; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. CAMERON:  And both parties, TransCanada and Union, anticipated that providing both your Niagara to Kirkwall and your Parkway contracts, that both of those services would require the construction of new facilities; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Certainly the Niagara service would require facilities.  In terms of the Dawn to Parkway, it would depend on how robust the open season results were and whether we needed to build or not.


MR. CAMERON:  I'm drawing the basis for that question from your application.  And if you want to look it up, it's at page 10 of Exhibit A, and this is the section of your application in which you're talking about your Parkway contracts.  And at the bottom of page 10, you say:

"It is Union's understanding that TCPL intends to submit a facility application to the NEB in order to construct or modify their facilities in order to serve the Parkway capacities.  This project will not proceed unless it is approved by the NEB."


So it was on the basis of that statement that I suggested to you that both Union and TransCanada anticipated that serving your Parkway contracts would require the construction of facilities.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, construction of facilities of TCPL, that's correct.  I thought you were referring to Union Gas facilities.


MR. CAMERON:  No.  Sorry.  If I wasn't clear on that, I apologize, but I think we're both now on the same page.


Now, with TransCanada anticipating in a new capacity open season that it was going to have to construct facilities, you're familiar with TransCanada's policy that in those circumstances, it requires a long-term commitment?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. CAMERON:  And that is why Union was being asked for a ten-year contract?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. CAMERON:  And we're not going to try to get into the boardroom, so to speak, about how these contracts fell off the table, but you opened your evidence with a discussion of the fact that you wanted TransCanada to make a commitment to -- a contractual commitment to build facilities to serve the Parkway volumes, and TransCanada said that it anticipated building facilities, but couldn't contractually commit to that.


Is that a fair capsule of your evidence?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the precedent agreement went a little bit further than that, actually.  The precedent agreement said they could provide the services in the most efficient manner, and they did not limit it to how it was provided.  That was really the concern that we had.


MR. CAMERON:  Right.  But there were discussions outside the precedent agreement, and indeed correspondence between the parties, where TransCanada indicated that it fully intended to need to build facilities to --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  There was lots of discussion, nothing binding.  That was our concern.  It was not in the precedent agreement, nor a side letter that was binding, committing to the build or, if they didn't build, to let us out of the contract.  And that was really the issue.


MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  So, again, to try to encapsulate what was probably a long and complex series of discussions, TransCanada was stating that it anticipated building facilities, and, indeed, particular facilities, this piece of loop, this valve, this compression, et cetera, but it wasn't prepared to contractually commit to do that, and that was the stopping pointed for Union?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct, and/or provide relief if it didn't happen.


MR. CAMERON:  Now, as a regulated utility yourself indeed appearing today in front of your regulator, you will appreciate the difficulty TransCanada would have had committing to build facilities and spend capital dollars for a particular contract when the time for delivering service came.  It might turn out that that service could be provided -- perhaps someone has decontracted or turned back capacity to the system, or whatever, but TransCanada would have difficulty appearing in front of its regulator saying, We don't really need these facilities, but we contractually committed to Union to build them.


You can appreciate that that would --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We actually had a discussion on that point, Mr. Cameron, and to the point that we suggested language that would reflect that, because, by all means, before you build capacity, you're going to do a reverse open season.  That's quite common for TransCanada.  It's common for Union Gas.  And it could be that through reverse open season or just normal turnback, that path becomes open.


So we suggested language that would address that.  That's quite normal course of business, and that was not accepted.


MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  We're not going to try to recreate those negotiations, Mr. Isherwood, but the two parties had a limited window in which to come to an agreement before decisions had to be made and we had to come before you today, and let's hope in the future we'll find a way around this.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Absolutely.


MR. CAMERON:  But I think we understand the terms on which those negotiations didn't succeed.


I wanted to talk to you a little bit about Union's concern that gas might end up flowing up around Emerson and back down through North Bay, et cetera.


First of all, you described that as a notional concept up until very recently; in other words, it was a displacement scenario?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, I kind of refer to displacement or/or exchange.  You can use it almost interchangeably, but it's really just redirecting gas on the flexibility of the TransCanada system.


MR. CAMERON:  And I think in your evidence this morning, my notes say that it is now physically possible, but that it would have to be, I think you said, a very bad day for this to actually happen.


I'll put it another way.  I say it would have to be an extraordinary day for gas to actually travel that route; is that correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah.  I think –- I think TransCanada's own forecast is that some portion of the half a bcf that's contracted would flow on some days.


My reference this morning to being a bad day would be if there was absolutely zero flow on Great Lakes and we had to flow the full half a bcf out of Dawn on a peak winter day.  That would be a bad day.


But I think -- I think, directionally speaking, the contract is in place, the facilities are in place to be used, and the anticipation is it would be used a few days during the winter -- or a few days during the year, sorry.


MR. CAMERON:  It's a sort of emergency backup scenario; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it's having physical facilities in place to be able to deliver on a firm contract, knowing that the supply is -- can now on some days fall below the half of bcf.


So I wouldn't call it, necessarily, an emergency, because you may put other arrangements in place if it was just going to happen once in a blue moon.


But if it is going to happen with some frequency -– not frequency, but a few days a year, then you definitely would want a physical solution.


MR. CAMERON:  I think that's fairly put.  And as a matter of fact, it hasn't been nominated so far this year; am I correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  As of yesterday, it had not been nominated.


MR. CAMERON:  All right.  And this business of Union finding this way of serving Maple with the potential for back-haul or exchange on Great Lakes to be inefficient, this is a matter that TransCanada is going to have to take up with its regulator, at the National Energy Board, and if that is inefficient or more expensive than an alternative, then TransCanada is going to have to justify that.  And if facilities between Parkway and Maple would be a better solution, TransCanada better have a good explanation for the National Energy Board; that is correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think I made that point this morning.  It's really an issue before the National Energy Board, rather than the Ontario Energy Board.


MR. CAMERON:  Fair enough.


Now, I just have a few minutes of questions about the tables that have been filed, and I'll look first at Exhibit K1.3, the Union table.


And I'd say generally this is the kind of information that parties were looking for.  We're going to suggest that there are some additions that can be made to this table to make it more accurate, but if I can start by looking at the numbers under heading A, you haven't footnoted this but we've managed to find the sources in various places in your filings and your application and information request responses, and those of Enbridge.


But if we look at the average landed cost impact, if I understand correctly, we look under the heading "Niagara".  Over the 10-year period, Union estimates that its landed cost will average out to be 829, and Enbridge estimates its landed cost will average out to be 669.


I don't quibble with the figures, but have I understood the concept correctly?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And then we can see the same for Dawn and in the case of Union Alliance?


MS. PIETT:  Correct.


MR. CAMERON:  So the landed cost figures have variances of up to $1.60, depending on the different estimates that the two companies have relied on, and we accept that this is forecasting and that --


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MR. CAMERON:  -- this type of difference is normal among different forecasters.


We note that then, with $1.60 or so difference in landed cost, the impact of this, the savings on the part of Union and the -– sorry, the slightly greater expense on the part of Union and the savings on the part of Enbridge turn on, respectively, two-cent and three-cent differences in weighted average landed cost.


Have I understood that correctly?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  That's all I wanted to ask about that part of the table.


Now, then we move down to part B, and you end up with a calculation that shows revenue contributions to the TransCanada system that will result in about a 0.2 cent reduction in the toll; is that correct?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. CAMERON:  And then when we do all the math, we assume that in the headings towards the bottom here, where it says Union 27,000 gJs and Enbridge 26,000 gJs, that is your total long-haul throughput?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And that generates the revenue figures savings of roughly $400,000 over on the other side of the table; have we understood that correctly?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And are we correct that nothing in this table reflects the toll impact of the cost of the facilities?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct, other than -- I need to comment on that, because I did see that the TCPL, by the footnote at the bottom of their chart, said that TCPL in their numbers had considered the cost impact of the new facilities.


And in our view, that's what the toll is to do.  The toll presumably would include all of TransCanada's costs, including old and new facilities, and that would be their toll that would allow them to recover whatever costs they had.  So to add on to that the incremental cost to -- of any one project might be double-counting.


We also thought about it and said that presumably TransCanada wouldn't go ahead with a project unless it was cost-effective.  So for the sake of our analysis here, we thought it really shouldn't have a cost consequence anyway, unless it is to reduce tolls even further.


So we thought it really became almost irrelevant.  Either it's already included in tolls, or else it will have a benefit greater than a PI of one, and it would reduce tolls more and have a greater savings to customers.


MR. CAMERON:  This might be a matter we have to simply agree to disagree on, but your chart shows a benefit calculated on the basis of a reduced toll because of revenues, but it doesn't show the impact on the toll because of the annual cost of operating the facilities; correct?


You might think that's the right way to do it, but -- but the TransCanada chart assumes both, that is revenue from tolls and annual operating cost of the facilities?


MS. PIETT:  I'm not sure what the TransCanada toll does.  I was just reading the footnotes on the chart and I went from that.


MR. CAMERON:  Fair enough.  And that's what they were meant for; those footnotes were meant to tell you that TransCanada had done that calculation.


Now, we're almost in the area of rounding errors when it talks to the cost of service of either the Union system or the TransCanada system, so we're not suggesting that a lot turns on this.  We're just trying to make sure that the numbers, when the Board looks at these things or when people generate these tables in the future, are accurate.


If you look at Exhibit K1.4, the table developed by TransCanada, you see that in the scenario as things have played out with the contract cancellations, the Enbridge contract representing an annual net cost of $400,000 And the Union contract being more efficient, so to speak, generating net revenue of $100,000, for what TransCanada would say is a net impact of $300,000.


We're probably spending $300,000 just running this hearing, so we're not suggesting that this is a number that anything should turn on.  We're just wondering if you could agree that assuming TransCanada has correctly caught -- and putting aside your point about our assumptions of profitability of projects and whatnot, but if TransCanada has correctly caught a $400,000 annual cost for the Enbridge contract and a $100,000 annual savings for the Union contract, the result would, in fact, be a $300,000 annual expense to Ontario toll payers?


MS. PIETT:  I see that's what your numbers are.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Those are my questions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks.  We'll adjourn and we'll continue after the break with you, Mr. Wolnik, and then we will -- any re-direct, Ms. Kirkpatrick, and then we will proceed to hear the Enbridge panel.


I'm advised that the oral option for Monday may be problematic just in terms of facilities, so I'll ask parties to keep that in mind.  I don't know whether that's been resolved, Ms. Helt, at this stage.


MS. HELT: I have been advised that we can have access to the hearing room.  It would be beneficial if we could know with certainty whether or not the hearing room is going to being required, because it's being dismantled, so to speak, for another purpose.  But it is available for use and we can have it set up for a hearing for Monday, and we would have it for the entire day, if required.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I wonder if parties, intervenors in particular, could put their minds to the idea of whether they intend to take advantage of the Monday oral option, and advise us at the earliest possible time, because we do have to shift some people out of the hearing room, as I understand it.


MS. HELT:  Actually, no.  The hearing room is free that day.  It's been booked, but because it's been set up in a different manner, it was slated that it was busy.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In any event, if parties, intervenors, could let us know if they intend to take advantage of that oral option for Monday, that would be helpful, so we can sort of plan ourselves.


It would be convenient if that oral argument could happen tomorrow collectively.  That would obviously be the simplest solution, but that's -- if parties could advise us, that would be helpful.


So we'll break until 2 o'clock.  Thank you.


--- Lunch recess at 1:11 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 2:16 p.m.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  MR. Wolnik?


MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Hello, panel.  I just have a few questions for you.  And I'll just let you know where I'm coming from.  There are three areas I kind of want to explore a little bit.


One of them is the need and the value of the contract; the second one is timing, why now; and the third one, what's the overall impact of the contract, or potential impact.


So initially, as I understand it, this supply contract from Niagara, is it in the short term going to replace gas you currently purchase at Dawn?  Is that right?


MS. PIETT:  For the first three years, it will replace gas that we would otherwise purchase at Dawn.


MR. WOLNIK:  And beyond that, you are replacing some gas that you are currently buying from Alliance; is that right?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  Is there concern, let's say in the next three years, that continuing to buy gas at Dawn would be a problem?


MS. PIETT:  It would not be a problem and we still will buy gas at Dawn, but our goal is to diversify supply, so we wouldn't buy want to buy all incremental gas at Dawn if there's other good options.


MR. WOLNIK:  So how do you value diversity?


MS. PIETT:  That's a good question.  I think that the answer has to be subjective.  What we try to do in our south portfolio is to try to have just a diverse supply of gas that all arrives at competitive prices to one another, that represents different supply bases and different routes.


MR. WOLNIK:  And I think a comment you made earlier this morning was diversity but not at any cost; is that fair?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  So there is a value, but at some point it's no longer valuable, and I agree, I mean it's difficult to measure and quantify, so it's a bit subjective.


So if this contract wasn't approved, you could continue to buy gas at Dawn; is that a fair point?


MS. PIETT:  Yes, we could.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  At least over the next three years, you feel comfortable doing that.


Can we look at K1.3 for a minute?  And I know that in the first line there under A, you've got Union showing your Niagara gas at 829 a gJ; is that right?  Your landed cost for Niagara gas is 829?


MS. PIETT:  It's 829, yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  And Dawn is 799?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  And Alliance is 839?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  And over the term of the contract, the weighted average difference of those is two cents; is that correct?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  So when you go to replace the Alliance gas contract, you're saying you're going to replace it with Niagara, but could you replace it with Dawn gas?


MS. PIETT:  We could.


MR. WOLNIK:  So is it relevant to have Alliance it in there at 839, when the option in three years is to convert that to a 799 contract?


MS. PIETT:  The option to replace that Niagara gas is not only Dawn, but any of the other locations as well.  We could buy it in Chicago.  We could buy it in the Gulf of Mexico.  We could buy it in Empress.


So we chose to compare it to the way that the gas has been supplied today.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  But you could buy it at Dawn, and I'm just trying to get a sense of the financial impact of this contract, the way you've presented it here.


And I guess what I'm suggesting is there is another option, buying it at Dawn, which would be diverse from your Alliance supply, I appreciate, but maybe not significantly diverse from other things you're doing today.


I guess what I'm looking at here is at least for the next three years and perhaps beyond, the financial impact of buying Niagara gas is not two cents, but 30 cents; would you agree that's one way to look at this?


MS. PIETT:  If you were to compare the Niagara purchases to Dawn and using the numbers that we have on this line, it would be 30 cents.


But you asked could we buy it at Dawn, and the answer is yes.  Should we buy it at Dawn?  I think not, if we have a better alternative.  So in our view, Niagara is the better alternative.


But if you're asking me the difference between Dawn and Niagara, it's 30 cents.


MR. WOLNIK:  But at least for the next three years, you'd agree with me the financial difference is 30 cents?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  Is that a benchmark in your mind, that it's worth paying 30 cents for the diversity, the value of diversity here?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.  We think it's worth it.


MR. WOLNIK:  And as I understand from your discussion with Mr. Cameron earlier as well, that TransCanada had the open season at that time you chose to participate; is that fair?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  You didn't go to TransCanada in advance to express interest in it and as a result of that, they held the open season.  It was they held the open season and then you agreed to participate?


MS. PIETT:  Are you speaking with regards to just the Niagara contract?


MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.


MS. PIETT:  I think that's correct.  I think the open season happened before we had spoken to them.  Certainly we were interested in buying Marcellus gas, but we had not yet spoken to TCPL about it.


The opposite is true with the Parkway contracts.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thanks.  That's fine.


If the Board doesn't approve the contracts, I think I'm not sure if your plan is to proceed or not.  Can you comment?  If the Board doesn't approve the contracts, will you proceed at your own risk?


MS. PIETT:  At this time, no.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  If your contract is not approved, do you think that the facilities will be built in any event?


MS. PIETT:  In my view, we represent a small portion of the contracted capacity on that pipe or that will be contributed on that pipe, so there is a reasonable chance it would be built anyway, but we don't know that for sure.


MR. WOLNIK:  No, I appreciate that.  But if it happened, I mean, presumably that capacity would be available in the future, either for you or somebody else to contract; is that fair?


MS. PIETT:  It may be taken by the current other shippers, so it may not be available.  It could be fully subscribed.


MR. WOLNIK:  So if that -- if it was fully subscribed and that gas came into Ontario, would that, by its very nature of that gas coming into Ontario, meet your diversity need?


MS. PIETT:  No.


MR. WOLNIK:  So that wouldn't be gas that would be available at Dawn, potentially, for you to purchase?


MS. PIETT:  No.  I wouldn't say that.  It may or may not be available at Dawn for repurchase, but it would be priced at the Dawn price if it were.  And our job is to provide diversity of price to our customers, also diversity of route, and also to encourage new infrastructure to be built in Ontario.  So those objectives wouldn't be met.


MR. WOLNIK:  Just going back to the Dawn gas that you're buying today, where does that gas come from?  How does it get to Dawn?


MS. PIETT:  The gas at Dawn is a blend of different basins.  It's not a basin itself; it's a hub, so it brings in gas from multiple other locations.


MR. WOLNIK:  Can you sort of comment -– I guess where I'm going -- do you think some of that gas travels on TransCanada, long-haul from western Canada, that arrives at Dawn, either through primary capacity that someone would hold and sell or through some sort of secondary service, you know, some secondary transaction where they would take assignment of capacity and buy gas in Alberta and sell it to Dawn?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'd say the two major feeds into Dawn are Vector and the Great Lakes TCPL path, and some secondary paths would be through the Michcon-Union Gas interconnect, and the Blue Water storage in Michigan and Union have an interconnect as well, and we also have the Ojibway panhandle interconnect down in Windsor.


So there's four or five ways to get to Dawn.  The two primary ones in terms of capacity-wise are Vector and Great Lakes/TCPL.


MR. WOLNIK:  And that Great Lakes, would potentially a good chunk of that Great Lakes capacity coming into Dawn would probably originate in Western Canada?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  And some percentage -- and I appreciate you wouldn't know what the percentage is, whether it's 10 percent or 90 percent coming from western Canada.  If you were to move those supplies off, away from Dawn and to Niagara, that portion that was traveling on TransCanada would result in lower throughput on the TransCanada system, which might affect tolls; would you agree with that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'll not sure it would, actually, Mr. Wolnik.  I think if you look at the price of Dawn gas, it's far below the price of western Canadian gas plus tolls, so I'm not sure how it's flowing on TransCanada, whether it's marketers using secondary capacity or someone else's capacity.


I'm not sure it would necessarily directly affect tolls.  In fact, I don't think it would.


MR. WOLNIK:  So you don't think that if there was lower throughput in some way on the TransCanada system, that it wouldn't have any -- your view is that it wouldn't have any effect on tolls?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The actual contracted capacity on Great Lakes on behalf of TCPL is very, very small.  It's something like 80,000 decatherms a day, so it's very small.


Flows are much higher than that because of a lot of IT and other things happening, but it's not directly tied back to FT.


MR. WOLNIK:  Are you aware that TransCanada holds capacity a lot of capacity on Great Lakes?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They hold almost a bcf a day of capacity.


MR. WOLNIK:  And are you aware if they release any of that capacity from time to time at a discount?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They do.


MR. WOLNIK:  Do you think some of that gas ends up at Dawn?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Discounted?  Absolutely.


MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  And that's based on the demand at Dawn.  So I guess my point is if the demand at Dawn changes, would the same amount of gas continue to flow on TransCanada Great Lakes?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the question you asked me initially was:  Would this capacity result in increased tolls in TransCanada?  To your point, I think some, if not a lot, of the Great Lakes capacity is flowing in a discounted condition, so it's not tied back to the FT toll.  If it was, then I would agree there could be some relation, but I think a lot of it is discounted or flowing -- the FT RAM would come to play here, as well, so -- on TransCanada.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, we'll move on.  Can we look at page 2 in the material that Union filed on January the 6th?


If I were to look at that second box that's loosely titled Niagara contract, you've got the delivered cost of gas from various sources there, and it appears that the cheapest one to me is the Panhandle and the Longhaul at 781, followed by Vector, and then Trunkline/Panhandle, and then the next one is the Niagara one at 829.  Is that kind of the right order --


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  -- of value of contracts?  Is more capacity available on some of those cheaper options?


MS. PIETT:  To my knowledge, Panhandle, Trunkline and Vector are all sold.  Some of it is available on the secondary market, I should say, but from a primary contract holder, I believe they're sold.  We have picked up Vector just this summer to run this winter for us, but we bought it in the secondary market.  We were able to do that.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Could we -- in that same letter, can we look at the tables that are attached?  Actually, we probably don't need to, I guess.  I think we've covered this before in my earlier statement.


In terms of your goal, I understand your goal was to diversify capacity from Dawn, but we talked a little bit about, I'm sure, being a member of the tolls task force, you're painfully aware of the tolling issues on TransCanada and the uncertainty that exists today and the uncertainty that's going to exist in the future.


But I think one thing that you'd probably agree with me, and I think you even said it early in the day, is that one of the ways to lower the tolls is to increase throughput?


And would you agree that if -- I take it that was an acknowledgment?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's true.


MR. WOLNIK:  And I assume you would agree that if this capacity was contracted long-haul on TransCanada, it would lower tolls?  And I appreciate there may be a commodity impact, but it would lower tolls not just for the 20,000 a day that's related to this contract, or 21,000 a day, but for all shippers on the TransCanada system.  Would you agree with that?


MS. PIETT:  Any additional revenue on the TCPL system will have the effect of reducing tolls.


MR. WOLNIK:  When you looked, again, at this value of diversity, we've talked earlier about it being worth at least 30 cents, but there's secondary benefits here in terms of if you were to contract long-haul.  Did you at any time look at the value to Ontario of contracting from western Canada for this supply as opposed to Niagara?


MS. PIETT:  We didn't seriously look at it, no.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.


MS. PIETT:  And the reason we didn't is because the -- one of the purposes in diversity is to diversify away from a basin that's declining.  So we know the WCSB is in decline, according to anything we've read, and the tolls are in an upward trend because of that.


And at one time, we had an awful lot of gas on Empress routes, and we continue to have over 50 percent of our portfolio there.  So our goal wouldn't be to diversify toward more western.  I don't think that would be a prudent thing to do.


If you look at the chart you drew our attention to, the letter that went on January 6th to the Board, under all tolling scenarios from TCPL, gas from Empress to the SWDA is most expensive.  So even under what we think would be one of the very best scenarios we can think of in terms of the long-haul tolls, which is the settlement tolls, which is the middle column in that chart, it continues to be the most expensive option.


MR. WOLNIK:  I appreciate for your 20,000 a day it may be more expensive, but you didn't look at the ancillary to the rest of the consumers in Ontario that buy gas on a long-haul basis; is that fair?  I think that's what you told me before.


MS. PIETT:  For 20,000 a day, the impact on tolls is so small that some would argue it's immaterial.  I think what we have to do is look to the benefits of diversity that will benefit Ontario, not just TCPL, but just attaching a new supply basin to our province, allowing price risk diversity and route to diversity, basin diversity, all those things are important when an LDC like us chooses to buy its system's supply.


And to move more gas to Empress when we know it's declining basin, in my view, that's a risky thing to do.


MR. WOLNIK:  Enbridge had responded to an IR that I'd asked that the impact -- they're asking whether the impact is roughly 2 cents to the long-haul tolls.  Would you agree that's kind of in the ball park?


MS. PIETT:  The chart that we submitted this morning, K1.3, says that the effect of 20,000 a day to overall long-haul paths is 0.2 cents.


MR. WOLNIK:  That was for short-haul contract, though; right?


MS. PIETT:  That was for the revenue, yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  Associated with -- not the revenue associated --


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  So it could be the number that Enbridge had advanced - and I appreciate it's not your number, but 2 cents might be in the realm of possibility?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have not done the math.  I would say the decision we're making here is not unlike a decision an industrial would make or a power producer would make, as well.  You're looking for -- a lot of different strategies you're trying to satisfy here.  And, for sure, opening a basin is maybe unique to Union and not to a power producer, but you're not going to re-contract on the most expensive path with toll certainty.


MR. WOLNIK:  I can appreciate more than some in the room the difficulties that you are facing.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  But in terms of making the decision, let's say for a year, I mean, I appreciate that you may not want to in the long run increase your purchases to the WCSB.  I think you had indicated earlier that short-term contracting on TransCanada is available on a year-to-year basis, or maybe even shorter terms than that.


You could do that on a shorter-term basis, could you not, and not materially affect your long-term strategy?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We could -- we could contract with TCPL on a one-year from Empress, you're correct.  Would it affect our long-term strategy?  We don't know when the next open season may come along from TCPL.  We have an opportunity now.  The supply basin is available now for delivery in 2012.


If you don't act when the opportunities come along, you may be left out.


MR. WOLNIK:  As I understand pipelining, I think you had indicated earlier you suspect the facilities required today to facilitate the imports are probably some valving around the stations and whatnot, some meters, and probably not huge facility requirements.


But as I understand the way Union has developed systems over time and how TransCanada has developed its system over time, there has always been the opportunity to expand that through looping and compression.


Is there any reason to believe that if you went to TransCanada in a year or two, and all this capacity that they added today was taken up by somebody else, that they would not build for you by adding a loop or some more compression to facilitate future growth?


MS. PIETT:  We had no idea that would be available to us.  We don't know.


MR. WOLNIK:  But you don't know it wouldn't be available?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  And the way to expand in the past to -- is to always request capacity, and the pipeline would facilitate that generally in some way?


MS. PIETT:  We could request it.  I don't know if they would build for a 20,000-a-day load.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the way to look at it is if you think of the market and signal we've been getting from the market in terms of the western Canadian supply basin, the trend is the toll has been increasing.  It's gone from a dollar a few years ago to $1.64, and now anywhere from $1.33 to $2.90.  And I've seen numbers higher than that, depending on throughput.


Last October, there was turnback on TCPL of 440,000 gJs a day.  You're asking us to go counter market.  You're asking us to go in a long-haul path that is not economic, that other people, when they have the option, are abandoning and decontracting, including utilities, including marketers, including all parties in the market.  440,000 gJs were turned back.


MR. WOLNIK:  I appreciate that, and I think the impact is we've seen the effect on the toll, and there are some APPrO members that, as you know, are long-term long-haul shippers on TransCanada.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  As are we.


MR. WOLNIK:  So you know the significant consequences that they're facing.  You have the ability, as I understand it, to pass those costs through to your customers.  Some of the APPrO members do not have that ability.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just because we have ability to pass through to our customers, we also have a responsibility to buy prudently.


MR. WOLNIK:  I fully appreciate that, yes.


As I understand, Mr. Isherwood, what you were saying earlier, I think there was something in the order of 800,000 gJs or decatherms a day of capacity that was being built to Niagara and Chippewa, and you expected that to be even greater?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  Other open seasons were being handled.  So who is that is facilitating that capacity being built?  Not the pipelines, but who are the parties contracting on the pipeline?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, a lot of that was presented in the Market Review.  I'm trying to think of some other names, but Statoil is large producers in Marcellus.  I think they were one of the major shippers on the National Fuel Gas.


And I know there were some schematics that were shown in the Natural Gas Review that showed some of the other contracting parties, but I think for the most part, if I remember correctly, they're the producers in the Marcellus area.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  That's helpful.


And you've had a complimentary open season for the Dawn-Trafalgar system to handle gas coming in at Kirkwall, right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  So presumably there's –- and if there's other people in the open season, you're seeing those parties contract on your system?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  And if the producers are generally willing to contract up to Niagara, aren't -- aren't they willing to contract to Dawn and -- go ahead.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, I think there's an IR where we talked about the results of the first open season and the second open season.


In the first open season, the two contracting parties were Enbridge and TransCanada.


The second open season, we didn't identify the actual folks, but we identified kind of the segment, whether they're LDCs or producers or marketers.  And that table is in one of the IRs.  I can find it if that's helpful.


But it was kind of a broad section.  It was marketers, some producers were interested, some utilities.


MR. WOLNIK:  Probably don't need to see it.  I guess I just wanted to understand whether you looked at the relative benefits and risks of buying gas at Niagara, holding a long-term contract, versus continuing to buy at Dawn and let the producers come to you with potentially lower risk, because you might be buying year-to-year or maybe two or three years, as opposed to buying exposed to a 10-year transportation contract?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We're not seeing a lot of activity from producers.  I think they got as far as the border.


And quite honestly, I think they're concerned about business in Canada in terms of GST and Canadian dollars, and they would much prefer to have people either come to them, or marketers, Canadian marketers, that can come to them and bring the gas to the market.


MR. WOLNIK:  So in terms of your Dawn-Trafalgar expansion, then, that is happening as a result of this, I think you talked about capacity in the order of one and a half bcf a day, is what you're providing for.  Now, can you -- and I know you said you're still in negotiations, but can you estimate where you think you're going to end up next week?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the final volume that we'll assign will be less than 400,000.


MR. WOLNIK:  So not an insignificant number?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It will be between zero -- still -– I'd say a question mark on it, between zero and 370.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  That's very helpful.


Does Union have any storage customers in the northeast?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not that I know of.


MR. WOLNIK:  Do you think you could potentially have customers in the northeast?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We sell storage through open seasons and just through normal, day-to-day contact, so it's always possible.


MR. WOLNIK:  So either storage or other sort of storage transactional-type services?  Those customers could come from the northeast?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They could, but our success rate unfortunately has not been very good.  They have typically gone -- gone past Union into Michigan for storage.


MR. WOLNIK:  So you're less competitive?  Is that what I would read into that, or for other reasons, they would go into Michigan?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I said we were less successful.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So if you had this contract from Niagara to Kirkwall and the related capacity on the Dawn-Trafalgar system, does that make your storage more competitive at Niagara in the wintertime in getting gas from Dawn back into the northeast?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We don't -- we don't bundle transport with storage.  We sell it to our independent.  So people buy storage and it's at Dawn.


And the contract we're talking about here is for system supply.


MR. WOLNIK:  No, I fully understand that.


But the mere fact you have a firm contract coming in at Niagara or Chippewa, does that not give you the ability to sell -- to bundle the service, basically, have a redelivery contract back at Niagara?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The contract with TCPL unfortunately is one-directional; it's from Niagara to Kirkwall.


MR. WOLNIK:  No, I understand that.


But if you have gas coming in at Niagara, what would prevent Union from saying:  I can take your -- Mr. Customer -- your storage gas out of Dawn, redeliver that at Niagara?  And just through the displacement of the gas you're buying.


Is there anything that would prevent that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think -- and maybe Ms. Piett can jump in here -- but I think from the point of view that we have assets, upstream pipeline assets that we bring the system supply into, if we're not using the asset, then we look at optimizing it, and ratepayers share in that today.


MR. WOLNIK:  And I guess where I was going was -–


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They get a part of that today.


MR. WOLNIK:  -- there may be some secondary value in having the capacity.  That was kind of my point.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If capacity's not being used by system supply, then we would try to find other uses for it.  And that's not unlike TCPL's capacity we have, or Vector capacity, or anything else.


MR. WOLNIK:  So there could be some sharing of that, and that was really my point, that really those benefits aren't recognized here in your analysis.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think our analysis is assuming 100 percent load factor, which would assume, then, it's not available for any optimization activity.


MR. WOLNIK:  You have to help me with that, because if you're bringing an asset at Niagara on a 100 percent basis, doesn't it give you the ability to also sell on a firm basis -- or exchange, rather, not sell but exchange gas on a firm basis at the Niagara point, between Dawn and Niagara?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Potentially.


MS. PIETT:  Potentially does, but when we are making purchase decisions for sales service, we do not consider what we could optimize the pipe for and what would be the best purchase decision on how else we might use the pipe for other reasons.


We look at making the right reasons for a sales service portfolio, and then once those provisions are in place, if there is an opportunity to optimize after that, then we would.  And there is a portion -- we have a budget for that, and we work to optimize our upstream portfolio.


But we don't buy system supply with the goal of maximizing optimization.


MR. WOLNIK:  No, no, and I appreciate that, and my point is not that you would --


MS. PIETT:  So that's why it's not considered in the numbers here.


MR. WOLNIK:  -- do that, but there could be some secondary value.  I guess that was --


MS. PIETT:  There could be, as there is with any of our pipe.


MR. WOLNIK:  Are there any other impacts or benefits based on your transactional services to this contract?  Is there anything that you would alter your transactional business as a result of this?  Would it give you more flexibility, more value in other areas?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I can't think of any, John.


MS. PIETT:  I can't either.  The security supply benefit and the fact that it arrives at Kirkwall, but I don't think that would alter our transactional business.


MR. WOLNIK:  Does it defer any sort of builds on the Dawn-Trafalgar system, or anything else between Dawn and Kirkwall?


MS. PIETT:  I can't think of anything like that.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.


Those are my questions.  Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Helt:


MS. HELT:  Good afternoon, panel.  I have a few questions for you.  I've tried to vet through my list of questions, so that I won't repeat anything that the other parties have already asked.


One of the areas that has been covered by some of the other parties deals with the current proceeding that TCPL has before the NEB with regards to its 2011 tolls.  And I think it's clear that TCPL tolls are uncertain and we don't know what the future tolls will be.  Mr. Thompson did pursue a line of questioning with respect to the risk on consumers with respect to these tolls.


The question that I would like to put to you is:  Does Union agree that the actual cost consequences of the Niagara-Kirkwall contract are not known at this time?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  What we have before us is estimates of costs.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I could just add to that, in the letter sent to the Board on January 6th, on page 2, there's a table, actually, that shows the TCPL Niagara-to-Dawn delivered costs under different tolling scenarios on TCPL, including the current toll, the low-end best-case and the high-end high-case, and it really doesn't change the landed cost of Niagara-to-Dawn.


It ranges from 8.29 to 8.35, so it changes by 6 cents, which in the scheme of how accurate the commodity forecast is, is really quite small.


So even though the TCPL proceeding is ongoing and unknown, the impact -- even though the TCPL toll could change in a very wide margin -- it has a very small impact on this contract.


MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.


The next questions I have relate to the precedent agreement.  There has already been a number of questions.


However, do you know whether many shippers have actually signed the precedent agreement with TCPL for the Niagara-Kirkwall contract?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We're aware of Enbridge, obviously, because they're here today, and other than that we don't know.


MS. HELT:  Are you aware of the types of shippers?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.


MS. PIETT:  No.


MS. HELT:  If they're wholesalers or anything else?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would suspect it would be some marketers, probably, but I'm only speculating.


MS. HELT:  All right.  Does Union consider itself to be an anchor for the expansion?


MS. PIETT:  With a volume of 20,000, it would be hard to say that we are an anchor.  However, marketers and other players do look to see what the utilities are doing when they're determining paths they might choose.


At least that's our understanding, that producers or pipeline companies like to attract utilities because it sends a signal to the market.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.  The next questions I have just relate to transportation risk, and I note that in one of the responses that you gave to a Board Staff IR, Union states it doesn't believe there is risk of under-utilized capacity with respect to the contract; is that correct?


MS. PIETT:  That's our view, yes.


MS. HELT:  And you further commented that it mitigates risks within its overall -- that Union mitigates risk within its overall transportation portfolio through its contract term flexibility; is that correct?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MS. HELT:  In addition, in another IR response, Union states that if Union's forecast decreased demand, Union would decontract for transportation capacity that was coming up for renewal; is that correct?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MS. HELT:  If I could ask you, please, then to refer to Exhibit B1.4E?  It is a table titled "Utility Transportation Portfolio for November 1, 2010".


MS. PIETT:  Okay, I have it.


MS. HELT:  Can you identify for me the transportation contracts that provide Union with the necessary flexibility that I was speaking of previously?


MS. PIETT:  Okay.  I would be happy to do that.  If you look at the current end date of the various contracts, you will see that a lot of the contracts -- and if we focus on the south portfolio, because that's what is really relevant to the Niagara contract.


MS. HELT:  Yes.


MS. PIETT:  You'll see a number of the contracts expire in 2011, one in 2012, and so on.  So as these contracts expire, we have the rights often to renew them or not.  And what we would do, if we see a change in demand of our customers and we need to reduce the demand of supply we would have, then of course we would not renew the ones we thought we didn't need.


So with the new contract of Niagara with a termination date of 2022, we would carry on with that one and we would not renew some of these others.


MS. HELT:  All right.  So then we have a number of transportation contracts, one-year renewable, that are with TCPL.  Are these contracts also ones, then, that provide Union with transportation flexibility?


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MS. HELT:  And would this potential decontracting impact the tolls on TCPL, then?


MS. PIETT:  Any change of activity on TCPL would change the toll, would affect the tolls, and, likewise, on the other pipelines.


MS. HELT:  All right, thank you.  Those are my questions.

Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  I have just a few questions.  Ms. Piett, you indicated earlier that you would not be decontracting on TransCanada main line.  Would Union Gas be willing to give the Board an undertaking that should you would consider decontracting, you would first come to the Board?


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Maybe if I could just ask for a clarification of the question.  Are we making a global undertaking with respect to any decontracting of TCPL that might occur in the future, or are we talking just about this contract?


MS. HARE:  No.  I'm talking about the statement that was made that there wouldn't be decontracting on the TransCanada main line.  So ten years is a long time.  I would think it might be hard to give that kind of a blanket statement.


So I'm asking for some kind of assurance that the Board would know that this was happening before it actually happens.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Correct me if I'm wrong.  My understanding is the statement that was made earlier was as a result of entering into this contract.


MS. HARE:  That's right.


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  Okay.


MS. HARE:  Excuse me.  Why don't you think about that, because we will have another break -- and get back to the Board?


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  That would be appreciated.  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  There is quite a discussion about Marcellus shale gas and the fact that it's an abundant basin.  I was a little bit confused, because in some cases the future tense was being used, that it will.  But, Mr. Isherwood, you did indicate that some gas was flowing.


Do you have any idea of how much gas is flowing today from Marcellus?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it came up in the market review, as well.  I'm trying to think back to the number.  I think it's a bcf or 1.2 bcf a day right now, if I remember correctly.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  My last -- maybe it's more of a comment.  Ms. Piett, you were very confident about the ability of Marcellus gas to make it to Niagara.  You also indicated that the risks on Kirkwall to -- or, sorry, Niagara to Kirkwall had no greater risk than any other route.


And so I'm struggling a little bit to understand, given that you don't have to get approval from the Board, why your response to Mr. Wolnik and in your evidence was that if you didn't get Board approval, you wouldn't go forward?


If the risks are low, no lower than any other route, and you don't need Board preapproval, why wouldn't you simply make your best assessment?


MS. PIETT:  The reason we -- I made the comment that I think there is a low risk the pipeline would be used, I think that continues to be accurate because of the abundance of supply at Marcellus and our small volume relative to that.


So I think the gas will always be available to this pipeline.  But where I am concerned was if the Board told us that this pipeline was imprudent or, for some reason, didn't support our contracting effort in that way, and we went ahead, and then down the road our forecast didn't play out in terms of landed cost analysis.


So let's say, for instance, that Dawn or another route became very inexpensive relative to Niagara, and the argument could come back to the utility to say, Your price estimates were wrong and you spent an additional X numbers of millions of dollars on this route that we didn't think was a good idea in the first place.  Our shareholders could be at risk for that.


So that's a risk the business model doesn't currently accommodate.  Right now with our system gas, we make prudent decisions at the time of entering into contracts, and the cost consequences of that is passed through to customers.  If those conditions were to change and we adopted a different business model, then I think it would have to be a balance of both risk and reward.


It would have to be a model we would also take positions, and if the market performed better or the value of these contracts performed better, then we would share in the benefit of that.  So that's where our company is coming from, I believe.


MS. HARE:  Those are my questions.


MS. TAYLOR:  I'm not sure who is going to answer this, but the previously approved facilities that the Board granted in late 2010 on the M12X, you have two shippers, and on the C1 route, as well.  Are those -- the ultimate construction of those facilities, are they in any way contingent upon the approval of this contract today?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, they're not.  The TransCanada contract we signed and the Enbridge contract we signed would support those facilities.


MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I just have a question in one area, and that's your exposure for non-performance or cancellation of the contract is, I think we expressed this, about $232,000.  And you fairly indicated that you have been advised that that represents your pro rata share of the overall contractual cost or the overall facilities cost.  And that's kind of your piece of the action.  But you don't know what the overall development costs are.  Have you formed any opinion at all about what the development costs are for these facilities?  Do you think you represent a 10th, a fifth, a 20th, a 40th of the overall picture here?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The one number we think about is it this contract is about 20,000 gJs a day and if all that gas at Niagara contracted through onto TCPL it would be somewhere between 800,000 and a bcf coming towards us, so that ratio is around 2 percent.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I know on Union’s side the facility cost is under $5 million.  TCPL’s may be more than that because they have a bit more facility but it's not tens of millions and hundreds of millions.  We do -- in the PA we do have the right to audit if we think the costs come in unreasonably, so we do have some safeguards in there, so 200,000 to us looked kind of reasonable.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I'm not suggesting there is misrepresentation about the pro rata.  I'm getting an idea of the magnitude of cost involved.  Your estimate would be if they're doing more or less the same thing that you had to do with respect to your facilities, it is about a $5 million undertaking, something of that nature?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, I'm just sort of multiplying it out.


So 200,000 is 2 percent, and what is 100 percent, so multiply that by sort of 50.  200,000, 2 million times five would be around 10 million, proportionally, I think, if I did that math right.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Helt asked a question about whether you considered yourself to be an anchor for the project, and again, you fairly answered that, well, at 2 percent, that's a very, very small anchor, not likely to hold the position for very long.


But you suggested that there was a kind of moral gravity to your engagement in the project.  And is that how you would describe it?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Thanks very much.  Those are my questions.


Any redirect, Ms. Kirkpatrick?


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  No, thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.


Argument will be forthcoming over the next few days, tomorrow and Monday.


So we will now proceed to hear the Enbridge panel.  And can they proceed --


Thank you very much, Ms. Piett, and we appreciate your effort today.  Thank you very much.  Take care.


MR. CAMERON:  Mr. Chair, while the panels are changing, TransCanada can advise that Union had prepared a response to the undertaking that was asked of them, I believe by Mr. Thompson, with respect to the phased liability over time.


The information they had had been given to them on a confidential basis, and so one of the people here from TransCanada is currently on the phone, trying to see if we can free that up so that Union can file that undertaking, and hopefully we'll get it done before the end of the day.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.


Thank you, Mr. Isherwood.


Mr. Stevens, do you have any preliminary comments before the witnesses are sworn?


MR. STEVENS:  No, I don't believe I do.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
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MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Stevens?

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Stevens:

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, Members of the Panel.


With us this afternoon are Malini Giridhar, the director of energy supply and policy, and Joel Denomy, manager of gas supply strategy with Enbridge Gas Distribution.


Just for your reference, their CVs have been filed at Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. STEVENS:  Ms. Giridhar and Mr. Denomy, can you please confirm that the prefiled and answers to interrogatories and updated evidence were filed -- were prepared by you or under your direction?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And are there any corrections or updates to the evidence?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, there are.  If you can turn to Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 1, third paragraph, last sentence that begins with:  "TCPL's PA has an effective date of..."  The sentence should read:

"TCPL's PA has an effective date of January 31st, 2011, on and beyond which date EGD will incur a pro-rata share of capital expenditures."


There is another update to evidence found at Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 6, table B, under the row entitled "Peaking."


And I'll begin in metres cubed, then move to bcf and then petajoules, but the numbers should be 44.44 106m3, 1.5 bcf, 1.67 pJs, and the final column, the percentage should be 0.73 percent.


There is another correction to this table under the row entitled "Dawn Supply."  Again, beginning with metres cubed, or 106m3.  The first number should be 1,181.3 106m3, 41.7 bcf, and 44.52 petajoules, and the percentage should be 19.46 percent.


And then one update to evidence which can be found at Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 10, paragraph 26, under the heading "Regulatory Risk" at about the middle of the paragraph, the company's original evidence identified the maximum liability established in the PA at $19,788,400.  You can change that number to $17,428,476.


MR. STEVENS:  And as I understand it, that change comes from the updated PA, which was filed recently?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. STEVENS:  Ms. Giridhar and Mr. Denomy, can you please confirm that with those corrections, the evidence as filed is accurate?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. STEVENS:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purpose of your testimony today?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  I just want to talk very briefly about the evidence.


Mr. Denomy, can you please explain how the evidence is structured and put together?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, I can.  The intention of the company's evidence is to address all the items outlined in the Board's filing guidelines for the pre-approval of long-term natural gas supply and/or upstream transportation contracts.


Each of the guidelines is addressed in the evidence and further addressed in many of the interrogatory responses that have been subsequently filed with the Board.


In order to assist the Board, the company has developed a table which maps the segments of evidence and interrogatory responses back to the items identified in the Board's filing guidelines for pre-approval of long-term contracts.


MR. STEVENS:  Just for your information, that table can be found in Exhibit K1.5, which is Enbridge's brief, behind tab number 6.


Now, Mr. Denomy, I note that Enbridge has filed several pieces of updated evidence over the last 10 days or so.  Starting with the materials which were filed, I believe, on Tuesday of this week, which are the appendices to Enbridge's evidence, in particular an updated PA, can you please briefly describe what changes of substance are in the updated PA?


MR. DENOMY:  Yeah.  The only change of substance in the updated PA, I referred to earlier.  It is the change in the maximum liability from 19 million down to roughly $17 million.  And that can be found on sheet number 12 of the updated precedent agreement.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.


And there were also two updated interrogatory responses filed.  Can you please explain what changed in those answers?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, certainly.  The first interrogatory response that was updated is Board Staff No. 23, and the update to this interrogatory response refers to the Dawn, Vector-Dawn and Alliance-Vector-Dawn paths.


The interrogatory response asks that Enbridge update its landed costs analysis to include the proposed interim tolls from TransCanada pipelines.  Those three rows that I just mentioned were not updated for the interim tolls.  So the updated IR response does include the new tolls in each of those three rows.


So I'll just go straight to the landed cost analysis, I think would be fine.


So the final landed cost for the Dawn path should be $6.79 Canadian per gigajoule.


The final landed cost for the Vector-Dawn path should be $6.82 Canadian per gigajoule, and the final landed cost for the Alliance, Vector and Dawn path should be $7.10 Canadian per gigajoule.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.


MR. DENOMY:  One update to CME No. 12, the Dawn landed cost analysis, the Vector-Dawn landed cost analysis and the Alliance-Vector-Dawn landed cost analysis, columns A and B in each of those tables were simply updated to reflect the correct path.  Originally, we had TCPL-Empress in there.


They've been updated to reflect Dawn to Dawn for the Dawn landed cost analysis, Vector-Dawn point of supply being Chicago.  For the Vector-Dawn landed cost analysis and Alliance-Vector-Dawn, it is the pipeline path, and CREC is the point of supply for the Alliance-Vector-Dawn landed cost analysis.  Those are the only updates.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Ms. Giridhar, in the Board's notice of hearing for this matter, there is a comment the Board wishes to ensure that Enbridge has fully addressed item 5.2 of the preapproval guidelines.


And, as you'll know, that item asks applicants to explain the impact on existing transportation facilities in the market of the contracts for which preapproval is sought, in terms of the impact on Ontario customers.


Could you please briefly explain the impact of Enbridge's proposed TCPL contract on existing transportation facilities serving the Ontario market?


MS. GHIRIDAR:  Certainly.  In our evidence, we had noted that the proposed Niagara to CDA contract was displacing Dawn spot supplies and peaking supplies.  Both of these supplies are not underpinned by any specific transportation.  So, in effect, Enbridge is not de-contracting any existing transportation as a result of this contract.


Therefore, there is no negative impact to existing transportation facilities in Ontario as a result of this contract.  In fact, Enbridge is increasing the level of its contracts on the TransCanada system as a result of which we believe there will be incremental revenues to the tune of $1.3 million each year once the contract goes from Niagara to CME.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And, finally -- and I did get into this myself this morning when we were talking about timing, but I think it's appropriate to have this officially addressed as evidence, rather than out of my mouth.


Can you please explain why a decision is required by Enbridge by December -- or, excuse me, by January 28th?


MS. GHIRIDAR:  Yes.  The PA, as has been mentioned already, has an effective date of January 31st, which in fact is 12:01 a.m. on January 31st, which is a Monday.  And that's the effective date in order for Enbridge not to incur any penalties as a result of cancellation.


What that does mean is Enbridge has to provide notice sometime before January the 31st, which is why Enbridge is requesting approval by January the 28th, Friday, January the 28th, so it will have the opportunity to provide notice of cancellation if, in fact, that is warranted.


While the estimated costs that have been provided by TransCanada at this point are in the neighbourhood of 30-odd-thousand dollars - I think $36,000 was the number provided to us - if we do not provide notice by the effective date, that number is predicated on no other shipper providing notice of cancellation.  So we are not aware of what the consequence might be in the event that other shippers also decide to provide notice.


And, in addition, as noted by Mr. Stevens earlier today, very shortly after January 31st, in fact, on February the 2nd, TransCanada is required to provide -- to sign contracts with Union Gas for M12 capacity, and beyond that date Enbridge's liability could be as high as $10 million, which is the liability associated with ten years' worth of demand charges on the M12 contract.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And what will Enbridge do in the event -- in respect of the precedent agreement in the event that no Board decision is received by the end of the day on January 28th?


MS. GHIRIDAR:  It is Enbridge's intention to provide notice of termination or cancellation to TransCanada in that event.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Mr. Chair, those are my questions.

Procedural Matters:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson?  Can we get an indication about timing for cross-examination?


MR. THOMPSON:  Much shorter than the last go round, 20, 30 minutes max.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We do have a bit of a hard target which arises at 5:15 today, which I was made aware of during the break, so the potential exists that argument-in-chief may have to go over to tomorrow morning, too.  That squeezes everybody, but I don't see any practical solution for that.  So just with that in mind...


MR. CAMERON:  TransCanada doesn't anticipate any cross-examination of this panel.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Wolnik, do you have a sense?


MR. WOLNIK:  Roughly the same as Union, maybe less.


MR. SOMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. WOLNIK:  The questions are similar.


MR. SOMERVILLE:  Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  Probably 15 minutes max.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We have a fighting chance of getting the argument in today, which I think is the fairest thing.  Let's do the best we can.  Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Panel, could I start, first of all, with the contract?  This is the precedent agreement, Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix B.


I want to confirm the volume is 30,000 gJs per day; is that correct?


MS. GHIRIDAR:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  My understanding is that for the first 12 months, November 1, 2012 to October 31, 2013, the service goes to Kirkwall only?


MS. GHIRIDAR:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then what happens to the gas after that?


MS. GHIRIDAR:  Enbridge has two options once the gas gets to Kirkwall.  Enbridge expects to have its M12X contract operational by then.  What that means is that the gas could then potentially flow back to Dawn, in the event it needs to go into storage, or it could flow to Parkway, from which point it could then flow into the CDA.


Enbridge also holds an STS contract, a storage transportation service contract, with TransCanada which it could use to take gas from Kirkwall to the Enbridge EDA.


MR. THOMPSON:  Will it be used for system gas customers?


MS. GHIRIDAR:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  So your situation is a little bit different from Union.  They have a ten-year deal Niagara to Kirkwall only; is that right?


MS. GHIRIDAR:  I understand that's the case.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But your deal is Niagara to Kirkwall for one year, and then Niagara to the Enbridge CDA for -- is it nine or ten years?  Nine years?


MS. GHIRIDAR:  Nine years.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Can you tell us, then, what -- sorry, in the contract at -- I think it's paragraph 15 this number was provided in-chief, the total exposure, which I'm equating to what it's going to cost TransCanada for your proportionate share of this, at the moment, is $17,428,476?  I got that from clause 15(a).


MS. GHIRIDAR:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Did I read that correctly?  Okay.  And in the evidence that was paragraph 26 of Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 10, you revise the number that's there shown, and you are telling us this relates to costs of acquiring transportation service on Union and capital expenditures by TCPL.


You also mention somewhere that you have this estimate that TCPL provides with respect to its quarterly spend.  Am I correct?


MS. GHIRIDAR:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Would you be prepared to undertake to provide that document, as well, to the Board?


MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Thompson, I think Enbridge is in the same position that Union is on the document for which Union gave an undertaking earlier today.


The spend estimate was provided to Enbridge on a confidential basis by TransCanada, so assuming -- or in the event that TransCanada provides consent, Enbridge is prepared to disclose it, but we're waiting to hear a response to that request.


MR. THOMPSON:  If the confidence needs to be preserved, can we have it disclosed in confidence so we have the pace of build-up of these cancellation charges?


MR. STEVENS:  Again, I think that's a question probably more properly put to Mr. Cameron.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's cross that bridge when we get there.


Mr. Cameron, I see that you're reaching for the button.


MR. CAMERON:  We've made inquiries, and there are a number of difficulties, one of which is none of these numbers can be known until January 31st and we know who is in and who is out.


In other words, the spend numbers for each of Enbridge and Union will depend on who by January 31st has committed to the precedent agreements.  So there is some softness to the information we can provide.


There is also a limited period over which we can forecast, though it would be the period, I think, that's relevant to the Board, which is the first quarter of this year.


So we're working on that data now, and hopefully we'll be able to get something that answers Mr. Thompson's concerns and gives the Board the information it needs.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board does have a procedure in which confidential material can be received, provided those receiving it have executed and abide by a confidentiality undertaking.  So we'll keep that in mind as we go forward, but Mr. Thompson --


MR. CAMERON:  We'll try to develop something that can be filed on the public record, but if it's necessary to use the confidentiality provisions of the Board, we'll do that.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Now, Ms. Giridhar, did you have at a conceptual level an understanding of what is involved on the -- in terms of work by TCPL on the Niagara-to-Kirkwall piece?


Is it, as Mr. Isherwood described, changing flows?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  I understand the Niagara-to-Kirkwall piece would require TransCanada to change -- to allow for bidirectional flow at Niagara.


MR. THOMPSON:  But is it your understanding it doesn't involve any addition to -- any looping of pipe or anything of that nature?  Additional pipe?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm not aware of the details of what's required to provide that bidirectional flow.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then on the other add-on in the remaining nine years of the contract, this is something that TransCanada has to do to take the gas to the Enbridge EDA?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  CDA.


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, yes.  Excuse me.  CDA.


And is that contracting on Union?  Is that what that involves?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's part of it, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what's the other part of it?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The other part of it is -- based on the information provided by TransCanada, is facilities to increase flow between Parkway and Maple, which would be required in order to provide gas to us in the CDA.


MR. THOMPSON:  Are those -- and between Parkway and Maple is TCPL facilities --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- not Union facilities?  All right.  Thanks.


And do you know -- have any idea of the breakdown as between the Niagara-to-Kirkwall piece and then the second piece?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That -- an estimate of that was provided in the spend profile that was provided on a confidential basis.  So to the extent that TransCanada's update later today is able to provide that split, I think we would have that information.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, are the percentages estimates confidential?  Perhaps they are.


MR. STEVENS:  Again, I think Mr. Cameron has to answer all these questions.


MR. CAMERON:  I don't think TransCanada would object to a percentage description, and I think the answer is the Niagara-to-Kirkwall portion is relatively small, and the Kirkwall and Parkway and beyond expenses are relatively large, the large majority of the expenses.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, on the Niagara-to-Kirkwall piece in terms of anchor tenants, Enbridge is in roughly the same position as Union; it's 30,000, and Union is about 20,000?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And the others are much larger, at least the others that bid.  We don't know how many are going to contract yet?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  What about on the second phase?  Do you know whether you're an anchor there, or just one of many?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We don't know.  I guess it would depend on who remains post-January 31st, but we do not know at this point.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, TransCanada in the Natural Gas Market Review indicated there had been about a bcf take-up on their open season.


Is it your understanding that was a take-up from Niagara-to-Dawn?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It was my understanding it was with the receipt point of Niagara.  I do not know what the delivery points were.  I'm presuming some of it went east, and that perhaps some of it went to Dawn.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, do you know of any others who are in the Kirkwall-to-Dawn group that you're in?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Kirkwall-to-Dawn?  Or would you mean Kirkwall to --


MR. THOMPSON:  Kirkwall to the CDA?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I do not know.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, we assume that all these others are a go with the -- with this expansion to Niagara to -- not expansion, but the change in flows.


Regardless of what your volumes mean to displacement on TCPL, is it fair to conclude that all the other volumes are likely going to lead to more displacement on TCPL?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I do not know the answer to that question.  It will be speculative.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, if all that gas is coming into Ontario, isn't it probable it's going to displace WCSB gas coming into Ontario?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That would presume that all that gas currently -- first of all, it would presume that all that gas was destined for Ontario and not points east of Ontario.


Secondly, it would presume that all of that gas currently flows long-haul on the TCPL main line, and just given the existing level of long-haul FT contracts, most of whom tend to be LDC-type shippers, I would question that.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, whether it's long-haul or short-haul, if volumes on TCPL go down because of what others are doing, that's going to have an impact on Enbridge and everybody else that is still on TCPL, right?  Whether they're long or short?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Presumably, if this volume is displacing long-haul contracts, yes, there would be a toll impact stemming from it.  We don't know that that's the case.


If it is short-haul, then to the extent that there is incremental short-haul as a result of the Niagara contracts, we do not know what the net impact of that is.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  When will we have an idea of whether that is or is not the case?  When does this process that TransCanada is going through become public as to how many are contracted and what the facilities that are going to be built and the flows and all that kind of thing?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think that --


MR. THOMPSON:  Is that within the next few months?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think that's a question that should be addressed to TransCanada?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you monitor their facilities proceedings, used acquired facilities from them long-term before.


How long does it take from the date of the PA until the date of the facilities application to the NEB, roughly?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I wouldn't be able to answer that question.  It's been some while since I was involved in any such thing.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  All right.  Let's move, then, to the mix of supplies that Enbridge has from TransCanada.


The evidence indicates, as I understand it, you continue to hold long-haul capacity?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  The company holds -- and continue to hold short-haul capacity?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so what's the sensitivity to Enbridge's total costs of an increase in short-haul tolls and decrease in long-haul tolls?


In other words, do you end up paying more for total gas supply or less than for total gas supply if TransCanada's tolls change?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think I'd need some clarity around that question.  Is there a specific toll scenario you have in mind?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let's take the $1.33 and the long-haul proposal, and then there was an increase in short-hauls.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Right.


MR. THOMPSON: Under that scenario, which Enbridge didn't approve or didn't support because of its -- it wasn't long-term, as I understand it, would you end up paying less money or more money for your total system gas supply?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So when compared to what we paid in 2010, the TransCanada proposal would result in our bill going up relative to what we paid in 2010, because we have a lot more short haul than we do long haul.  So if 2010 were the benchmark, then that proposal would have resulted in us paying more.


MR. THOMPSON:  And with the interim order that the NEB made, you pay about the same?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  Exactly the same.


MR. THOMPSON:  And under the alternate scenario where the long haul went way up and the short hall, I think, remained around the same, you would pay more?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, under the alternate scenario, both the long haul and short haul would have gone up, and we would have paid more, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so, like Union, Enbridge didn't support TransCanada's interim proposal, and, on the grounds that there was -- it wasn't permanent, or words to that effect - that's my paraphrase - can you tell me what end state Enbridge sees here as the solution to the TransCanada problem?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't know that Enbridge is capable of fixing TransCanada's problem.  So I don't know that we actually have a solution that could fix it.  I could, however, express the concerns we had with the proposal that TransCanada filed, and our concerns were, firstly, around the significant deferral of costs.  So as a long-term shipper with 40 interconnects with the TransCanada system, we expect to be on TransCanada for the foreseeable future, and our view is that a significant deferral of costs would not be in our ratepayers' best interests if the consequences of that deferral were to be visited upon our ratepayers to a greater extent in the future than today.


Secondly, the significant toll change -- methodology changes were something that we needed to get a better handle on to understand future implications, and we needed more time to do that.  However, we did express in our letter to the NEB our willingness to work with TransCanada in a collaborative fashion to arrive at a settlement that would meet the interests of our ratepayers.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  And Mr. Isherwood mentioned that process, as well, which is ongoing, as I understand it.  Are you engaged with TransCanada yet?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  You are.  And can you help us with the length of time you think that it might take to sort this out with TransCanada?  Is a solution on the horizon?  Is there a feasible solution out there?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm not sure that I can answer that question in advance of engaging with TransCanada on that discussion, so we are going to do that in the next few weeks.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, how long are you going to participate in that process before saying this is impossible?  Do you have any -- is this going to take years?  Is it going to take a few months?  Do you have any idea how long it's likely to take?


MS. GHIRIDAR:  I'm hopeful that with -- that a solution is possible over the next few months.  Enbridge does not intend to walk away from these negotiations, because, as I mentioned, we are on TransCanada for the foreseeable future.  So we would definitely be participating in this process for as long as it takes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let's then turn to cost-benefit analysis of the contract and its impact on your total supply, not only impact of your contract, but of all the other -- what the others are doing in connection with these expansions.


We asked a question about that in our interrogatories trying to get a ten-year, if you will, net PV.  It was the kind of thing that you provided, for example, when you did the alliance-Vector arrangements a few years ago.


And that was Question No. 18, CME 19, Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 18.  And the answer, and I'm paraphrasing, is -- that's the one.


I interpret this to mean you really can't do a cost-benefit analysis, big picture, but you say, all other things being equal, you think it's going to be cheaper?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think the words, our current expectations are for it to be cheaper.


MR. THOMPSON:  Would you agree with me that the ability to do an estimate of the total cost benefits will be better once we know how this TransCanada tolling issue is going to play out?


MR. DENOMY:  Just to respond to your question, Mr. Thompson, if you could turn to Board Staff No. 23, Board Staff No. 23 asked Enbridge to provide a landed cost analysis with the proposed interim tolls from TransCanada Pipelines.  And even with those interim tolls included, the landed cost for Niagara supply is the cheapest of all the paths that we've examined.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right, but that's not telling us what your costs are going to be -- your cost to TransCanada are going to be in all your TransCanada supplies, if the Niagara expansion or facilities conversion brings in a lot of other gas that has this displacement effect.


In other words, it's broader than just your deal with TransCanada.  The impact on your total costs will be broader. I'm simply narrowing our focus to your particular contract.  That's what I'm trying to suggest.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Right.  And what I would say in response, Mr. Thompson, is irrespective of where we source gas, given where we are located, all the gas that we procure, other than what we get out of storage, has to traverse the TransCanada system, either short haul or long haul.


So under the scenario you've suggested that the Niagara expansion results in further displacement of long haul as a result of which long haul tolls increase further, our expectation would still be that travelling short haul on the TransCanada system would be less expensive than travelling long haul.


The scenario where short haul tolls go up and long haul tolls go down is one scenario that TransCanada, in fact, presented to the NEB and wanted approval on, and that scenario, Mr. Denomy explained to you that under that scenario, the Niagara contract was still cheaper.


So it was on that basis that we had the comment in our response, based on current expectations, that it would be cheaper.  Having said that, of course we don't know what the basis will be in Niagara relative to Dawn and Chicago and all of those points.  The actual magnitude could vary, and Niagara could end up being less economical than, say, Dawn or Chicago, which is why we used the word "competitive" as opposed to "lower" with respect to those other somewhat shorter haul routes than western Canada.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, under your proposal, the risks of all of these uncertainties rest with -- you're asking the Board that those risks be allocated entirely to ratepayers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And suppose the Board says, We're not going to do that.  We're going to allocate the risk differently, leave some risk on Enbridge.  What happens then; approved, but your allocation of risk is modified?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It is Enbridge's view that Enbridge's shareholder should not be responsible for any of the risks that we have identified as part of this process.  It is our belief that the guidelines for preapproval were provided in order that Enbridge could explain, to the extent that it is aware, all the risks that it faces with this contract.


We agree with Union Gas that our business model does not reward Enbridge for undertaking gas supply-related risks, and in the event that those risks are visited upon Enbridge, we believe that we would not be able to proceed with this contract.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  On this issue of consequences if the preapproval -- or if whatever the Board grants isn't precisely what you're asking for, we had another question for you, CME 15, Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 15.


And I'm asking this question because in your evidence-in-chief, you were pretty definite that if you don't get what you want, you're canceling, is the way I interpreted it.


In this answer, you -- it was a little more cautious.  You said you would see what the Board said before you decided what you would do.  You say:

"It's not currently possible to determine whether EGD will proceed or provide notice of cancellation.  That decision would depend upon other things, including the Board's stated rationale for rejecting the application."


MR. STEVENS:  Just to be clear, Mr. Thompson, I believe my question in direct was what would happen if no decision was received.  It didn't have to do with the content of the decision; it was simply if there's no decision received by the 28th of January.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So let's assume a decision, but it's not preapproval of all of the cost consequences of this deal at this time, that there is some proposal from the Board that you have to report back within a certain period of time on the TCPL toll situation and provide cost/benefit analysis, so that the cost consequences approved might be limited to cancellation fees in this interim period.


What would Enbridge do then?  Would it go ahead?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mr. Thompson, I'm having difficulty with this question, because I think -- first of all, I think we need to understand the Board's decision if they would rule in that fashion, understand the rationale behind that decision before we could comment on how we would react.


Our view is -- I think your question was asking would we accept some of the risks that we've identified in our application, and our view is that those risks should not be visited on our shareholder.


MR. THOMPSON:  No, it was a little different question.  I took your point on that.  You wouldn't accept any risks.


But this point was a little bit different.  It's limiting the preapproval of cost consequences to cancellation fees up to -- until something happens -- for example, the TransCanada toll resolution -- because at that time, you could come forward and have a better picture of how all this was going to play out.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I see.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the Board could see the cost-benefit analysis and whether it makes sense, and you could determine whether you should go ahead or not go ahead, but you would have some protection for the exposure you face in having passed the January 31st date, but not 100 percent 10-year coverage.


That's what I'm throwing out for consideration.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I see.  Well, what I would like to state in that scenario is Enbridge would not actually be executing an FD contract until some point where TransCanada, you know, gets its facilities ready.


So in the event that the Board approves of any cancellation costs that are incurred because of an outcome we cannot anticipate at this point, well, in that instance Enbridge would not necessarily have entered into the FT contract, either, in that point.


MR. THOMPSON:  The FT doesn't come until it's in-service.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  But your concern is:  We have cancellation fee exposure, therefore we want this thing approved in all its majesty now, so we can go forward.


And what I'm suggesting is:  Is there something less than that works for Enbridge?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, if the something other than that is that Enbridge has no exposure to the cancellation costs --


MR. THOMPSON:  That's my idea.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's your idea?  Well, if it was something that Enbridge was comfortable with, and in any event Enbridge is not required to execute the FT contract, there is really nothing Enbridge needs to do between now and then.  We would have signed the PA and we would be waiting to execute the contract in any event.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.  Those are my questions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Warren.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Panel, can I just begin by asking you to turn up Exhibit B, tab 1, page 1, schedule 1, page 10?


This is some of your prefiled evidence that Mr. Denomy referred to and corrected some numbers in there, and I just want to understand the numbers.


Let me quote from paragraph 26:

"The maximum liability established by TCPL in the PA is an estimated amount of 17..."


I'll just round for the moment.  I got the exact numbers, but $17 million.

"...of which approximately half relates to costs of TCPL acquiring transportation service and the remainder relates to the capital expenditures of TCPL."


So as I read it, something like $8.7 million relates to the capital expenditures of TCPL.  Where do you get that $8.7 million number from?


And the corollary to that is:  What capital expenditures are you talking about?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I should clarify that perhaps we should have had a further amendment in that sentence.  The phrase "of which approximately half relates to costs of TCPL" was with reference to the original estimated liability of 19.7 million, so it's approximately $10 million, I believe, which would be the demand charges for 10 years for that capacity.  And therefore in this instance with the 17 million, the difference would be related to TransCanada's costs.


MR. WARREN:  So some $7 million are TransCanada's costs.  Where did you get the $7 million from?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It was provided by TransCanada.


MR. WARREN:  Do you know what those capital costs are for?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Those costs were contained in the spend profile that was provided on a confidential basis, which I understand TransCanada has since undertaken to provide.


MR. WARREN:  So it's a sheet less than fully confidential at the moment, I take it; is that right?  Well, you have a seven --


MR. STEVENS:  I think it's the details that remain confidential.  Mr. Cameron seemed to be comfortable with disclosing the sort of relative percentage of the different aspects of the costs.


MR. WARREN:  I apologize.  I was being facetious, panel.


But your understanding, then, or your information is that the $7 million relates to the capital expenditures.  That number has been disclosed to you, but as between the various portions of what's going to be done, do you know what that number is?  Or is that something you're going to get from Mr. Cameron?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think Mr. Cameron was comfortable with talking in percentages, and without actually going through it with a calculator, I would agree the vast majority of the $7 million would have to do with the Parkway-to-Maple section.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  Now, the second area I want to cover, panel, is do I understand it at a high level of generality that the principal benefit from what you're proposing is to -- is captured by the concept of diversity of supply?  Is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, I wonder if you could turn up Exhibit K1.5, which is the booklet of materials supplied by your counsel for use in oral submissions.  And if you could turn to tab 6 -- sorry, tab 5 -- sorry, I apologize.  Tab 1, actually.


This is a section of the report of the Natural Gas Forum.  And I'm looking at page 73.  This is the pagination in the report itself.  So tab 2 -- tab 1, page 73.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Panel, this, as I understand it, is the portion of the Natural Gas Forum report in which the Board reached its conclusion and made its recommendation with respect to the preapproval of long-term supply and transportation contracts.


Can you and I agree -- just looking at it, it says given the importance of security of supply.  And do I understand it that this application which you're seeking here is not related in any way to security of supply; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Are you asking me if the application is not related to security of --


MR. WARREN:  Too many negatives in it, but you just told me that diversity was the principal driver for this.  I take it it follows -- I'm suggesting it follows from that logically that security of supply is not the principal driver for this application; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Security of supply is a consideration for this proposed contract, as well.


MR. WARREN:  Is it your evidence that if this contract is not entered into, that there will be some risk Enbridge won't be able to obtain sufficient supply for purposes of serving its system gas customers, and, if so, where is evidence of that in the prefiled evidence?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Enbridge has addressed that risk, in that Enbridge has noted in its evidence that as a result of significant migration back to system supply, our 2011 budget portfolio has a significant increase in Dawn spot purchases, as well as in peaking supplies to meet peak day demand.


Enbridge does not believe that serving base load for system gas customers should be done in this fashion.  It is Enbridge's belief that we should be using firm transportation to meet the requirements of firm customers.


In that sense, the proposed contract does enhance security of supply.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that, panel.  Staying with the same page, page 73, if we go to the -- the Board says in the portion I've quoted:

"Further, the Board will consult in the development of guidelines that will inform all stakeholders of the principles and issues that the Board will consider in evaluating an application for contract preapproval.  The guidelines could include the following considerations..."


Bullet 1 is:

"Risk allocation, the appropriate allocation of risk between ratepayers and shareholders."


Have I read that correctly?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  I would ask you to turn to the Board's letter of April 23, 2009, to which are attached the guidelines themselves.  Do you have that in front of you?  If not, can you get it?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. STEVENS:  That's the letter at tab 5 of the brief, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  I apologize.  I had it as a free-standing one.  But you're right, I'm sorry, it's at tab 5.  You're right.  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.


And can we agree those are the guidelines which were ultimately adopted by the Board and which are -- you said, Mr. Denomy, if I have understood your evidence, are in effect the drivers for the structure of your evidence; is that correct?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. WARREN:  If I take a look at the attachment A and I go to part IV, "Risk Assessment", the first paragraph says:

"Identification of all the risks (such as forecasting risk, construction and operational risks, commercial risks and regulatory risks) and plans on how these risks are to be minimized and allocated between ratepayers, parties to the contract and/or the applicant shareholders."


Now, against the background of what was said in the Natural Gas Forum report and what's in these guidelines, would you agree with me, panel, that one of the bases on which the Board is proceeding with preapproval of long-term contracts is some allocation of risk?  Would you agree with me on that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The guidelines have been adopted in the current business model in which Enbridge does not undertake any risks with respect to its gas supply function, save the use of prudence in how it contracts for supply and transport.


MR. WARREN:  So I don't want to push this too far into the area or territory of argument, Ms. Giridhar, but let me put this last question to you.  I take it your position is that notwithstanding what was in the Natural Gas Forum report and in the guidelines, that risk allocation is not an issue for you in this case?


MR. STEVENS:  I think to be fair, that's really a question that we're going to get to in terms of argument, Mr. Warren.  The witnesses have clearly stated their position in terms of the risks that Enbridge is prepared to take when it's making the decision as to whether or not to provide notice of cancellation before the effective date.


MR. WARREN:  Staying with part IV of the guidelines, the text reads:

"Identification of all of the risks (such as forecasting risks, construction and operational risk, commercial risks and regulatory risks)."


Do you agree with me that the clause in the brackets, "such as", those are examples of the risks and that you are to -- the guidelines require you to identify all of the risks?  Do we agree on that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  As to the language, yes, I do see the words "such as" and the word "all".


MR. WARREN:  Can I ask you in that context to turn up an interrogatory that was a response to my friend Thompson's client?  It's Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 4.  Do you have it?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, we do.


MR. WARREN:  This answer is, in substantial measure, the same or close to the same as one that Union gave to an identical interrogatory.  The question asks:

"What are the production risks associated with the availability of supply from Marcellus shale?"


And then you list seven bullet points.  I take it -- sorry, there is one other document I would like you to turn up, and that's tab 6 of your counsel's argument brief, which you directed us, Mr. Denomy, in your prefiled evidence.


As I understand tab 6, that's what you say is Enbridge's comprehensive response to the requirements of the guidelines; is that right?  If I look at all the evidence that's contained in there, that's Enbridge's response the requirements to the guidelines.  Have I got that correctly?


MR. STEVENS:  That was certainly the intention as it was put together, Mr. Warren, obviously pending any errors and omissions that might be there.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that, Mr. Stevens.  Now, when I look at -- Mr. Denomy, I look at part IV, "Risk Assessment", and look over to the right-hand column and I see that you include in that some of the interrogatory responses?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Including the very one I've referred you to; is that correct?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I've gone through your prefiled evidence, and please feel free to disagree with me, panel, but I don't see anywhere in your prefiled evidence any reference to production risk associated with the availability of supply from Marcellus shale, am I right?


MR. DENOMY:  Give us a moment, please.  Paragraph 23 in Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1 on page 8 shows that Enbridge does believe that the Niagara market will evolve to a more liquid market over time, and that based on commitments from open seasons that we've seen, that that market will be good.


Implicit in that piece of evidence would be that there would be minimal production risk associated with Marcellus supply.


MR. WARREN:  I'll return to that answer in a moment, Mr. Denomy, but if we could start first with Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 7, two pages about before what you just referred us to -- sorry, one page before.  Paragraph 18 says:

"The guidelines for preapproval of long-term contracts require that the following risks be identified and addressed."


And you've got the four categories that are in the bracket in the guidelines, and Ms. Giridhar and I have just agreed that those are -- I'm putting words in her mouth, and I apologize for this.  Those are examples of the risks and not a comprehensive list of all of the risks; right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't wish to get into an argument with you, Mr. Warren, but, for example, forecasting risk, future demand prices, landed cost, performance of basin.  I would suggest that the use of the words "performance of basin" could be another word for production risk.


MR. WARREN:  What I'm wondering, panel, just to cut to the essence of it, is why, if -- in responding to Mr. Thompson's interrogatory you were aware of all of these production risks at the Marcellus shale, why you wouldn't have included that in your prefiled evidence?


We have the happenstance that Mr. Thompson, in his usually rigorous -- usual rigorous and thorough way, has asked these questions.  If he hadn't asked these questions, Ms. Giridhar, the Board would not be aware of risks which you have identified with great detail in this answer.


Why would you not put it in your prefiled evidence?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We certainly attempted to identify all the risks that we were aware of at the time.  We talked about performance of the basin.  We talked about liquidity at Niagara.  We talked about the fact that there are significant producer interests in bringing Marcellus production to Niagara.  And the presumption is that if there was a level of production risk that producers were uncomfortable with, it was hardly likely that they would go on and commit to additional transportation capacity.


So the presumption was that if there is 800,000 gJs or decatherms of transportation capacity that producers were willing to sink into, that they believed that there wasn't a production risk that would make that commitment uneconomic. And that 800,000 gJs is a large number relative to the 30,000 gJs we need to buy of Niagara on a daily basis.


So, in our view, we did address it in our prefiled evidence.


Now, to the extent that parties thought that there was an inadequate elaboration, they were certainly free to ask interrogatories, and they did, and we did respond to that.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that answer.  Two final questions.  Do I understand from your earlier answer that the risk, in terms of unabsorbed demand charges over the life of this, is $10 million?  Do I understand that correctly?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  $12.9 million.


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  $12.9 million.


MR. WARREN:  12.9 million.  And it's your evidence that the risk of that -- that there is minimal risk of that occurring?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  The question was asked by -- of Union, and I'll ask again of you:  What's the impact of what you're proposing in terms of transactional services?  Any impact?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The expectation is that because this is serving base load, that the utilization would be 100 percent, which means that the capacity would not be available for optimization.


Of course, in actual effect, the utilization number could be different, and to the extent that the capacity can be optimized while still meeting system demand, we would do so.  Enbridge has a sharing mechanism for transactional services revenues, so Enbridge would share 75 percent of any ensuing revenues with our ratepayers.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  My final question is just returning to the $7 million in capital spending for the Parkway to Maple portion of this matter.


Is it your understanding that -- what is your understanding in terms of what's the $7 million will be spent for?  Is there additional pipe being built there?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Our understanding from TransCanada was that based on the total amount of commitments that remain beyond January 31st, they would be making a full assessment of the facilities required between Parkway and Maple.  And examples that were given to us were sort of looping of pipe between Parkway and Maple, as an example.


MR. WARREN:  If your portion of it is estimated to be $7 million, is it not fair for me to assume that you would have drilled down, no pun intended, in considerable detail to see exactly what the $7 million is going to be spent for?  Is that not a reasonable assumption on my part?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We did our best to get more information from TransCanada.  They told us they could not determine the exact extent of the facilities until the final volume was known and that the $7 million was an estimate.


MR. WARREN:  Is it possible that that $7 million will be reduced?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I suppose that's possible.


MR. WARREN:  Do you know that, depending on the number of people who actually signed these contracts?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I suppose that's possible.  TransCanada was not in a position to give us any more detail beyond that estimate, and they said it would be updated post January 31st, and then every time that we could request an update on a quarterly basis, they would seek to provide it within 30 days of request.


So that's the basis we've had to go on, and it's not for lack of asking.


MR. WARREN:  Is it possible your commitment to this contract and carrying it out will vary depending on what that number turns out to be?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Could you explain that?


MR. WARREN:  Let me put it generically.  I'm puzzled by the apparent - and I underscore the word "apparent", to be fair to you -- lack of detail in your understanding of exactly what the $7 million will be spent for and how much of it you will ultimately be obligated to spend.


You're asking the Board for preapproval of $7 million in expenditure, among other things, but you can't tell me whether or not that will actually be spent or what it will be spent for.  Is that fair on my part?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  My understanding, based on the language in the precedent agreement, is that -- well, we should probably talk in terms of $17 million, because that's the number, and it includes the piece that TransCanada would owe Union.


So working off that $17 million - that's an estimated number at this point - it is dependent on the total costs.  It is also dependent on who remains, and TransCanada has language in its PA that says that we have an obligation to minimize that cost in the event that notice of cancellation needs to be provided.


Those are the clauses that we could go off on.  We did have our counsel review the PA thoroughly and ask questions of TransCanada, and we were told that was the standard language and that all shippers would have to agree to that, to those clauses.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Cameron?


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  TransCanada has no questions for this panel.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Wolnik?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Wolnik:


MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  Just a few questions, and they will be very similar to the ones that I asked Union earlier, so if you were listening, you probably will have a sneak preview of my questions.


As I understand it, this 30,000 a day will be replacing supplies that you are currently purchasing at Dawn; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  I think if I heard you before correctly, part of those supplies is a result of a return to system customers and the need to increase your overall system supply to feed those return to system customers; right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Right.


MR. WOLNIK:  I thought I heard you say there was some risk to that, because you were buying spot gas and getting at a level that you were feeling comfortable.  Is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Right.


MR. WOLNIK:  Have you looked at a term contract at Dawn?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The potential risk is not so much in purchasing gas at Dawn.  The reason why we term this as spot is because there isn't any specific transportation underpinning the current level of Dawn purchases that we have in our 2011 budget, for instance.


What that means is that on days that, for example, M12 transport is available because we are not withdrawing our maximum deliverability out of storage, we do have transportation space available to take that gas to market.


However, on peak days or near peak days, that transport would be fully utilized by gas withdrawn from storage, and to cover those days off, we have had to go out and get additional peaking supplies which are delivered into the franchise.


MR. WOLNIK:  You could presumably also buy gas under some arrangement, whether it's a short-term firm or one-year contract from Empress; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct, and the intent is that we would take a portfolio approach to our incremental system supply requirements.  I do believe we noted in evidence that the Niagara contract represents approximately, or a little less than 5 percent of our total system requirement needs.


The expectation is that the rest of those requirements will be met through our traditional methods.


MR. WOLNIK:  You, too, then, would value the diversity aspect of this contract?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  Can you put a value on diversity?


MS. GHIRIDAR:  I would agree with Ms. Piett that diversity -- the value of diversity is subjective.  The way we address diversity is -- actually, at the most basic level, it's diversity of counter-parties.  We want to make sure, even within a supply basin, we are buying gas from several different producers or sellers, and then there is the number of supply basins you buy from.


Even if it's from the same supply basin, you would like to have some diversity of path.  So, for example, if it's western Canadian supply, you would want to see if you could get some of that through an alternative path than the main line long haul system.


So all of those factors go into assessment of diversity.


MR. WOLNIK:  My understanding is that there are some shale supplies in western Canada, as well, more particularly in northern BC and through the Horn River and Montney supplies?


MS. GHIRIDAR:  Right.


MR. WOLNIK:  Would you view purchasing gas from those supplies to help fulfill your diversity requirements?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We would view those supplies as emerging from the same basin as our other western Canadian supplies.  So I wouldn't view that as enhancing diversity.  What the shared supplies might do is stem the decline in production in the Western Canadian Basin.


MR. WOLNIK:  If I could get you to turn to your corrected schedule Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 23, I think you have a table of landed costs there on page 2.  I think on page 2, there are two tables.  I'm looking at the top one, and I guess the second last column, it looks at the landed cost of the various supplies.


So we've got the Niagara supplies at 6.78, and TCPL supplies coming in at 6.85.  Is that fair?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.


MR. WOLNIK: So it's about a 7 cent difference in there, a premium, for western Canadian supplies?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  If you were to increase your supplies from western Canada, would you agree there would be a positive impact on tolling, because you would increase throughput and presumably lower tolls?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  That hasn't been factored in here; is that fair?


MR. DENOMY:  That's correct.  That hasn't been factored in here.


MR. WOLNIK:  I think in response to the APPrO interrogatory -- I think it was number 4 --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Could I just maybe add to that answer?


MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.


MS. GHIRIDAR:  I'm presuming that these were the numbers underpinning TransCanada's interim application?


MR. DENOMY:  That's correct, yes.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  And that was a $1.35 toll, which in the short-term was presumably achievable with significant deferral of cots.  If you're looking at this over a ten-year period, it is our view that absent further volume on the TransCanada long haul system, that the $1.35 toll is probably unsustainable into the future.


MR. WOLNIK:  Let's talk about that a little bit.  That may be true.  As I understand TransCanada's transportation policy, because they have excess capacity today from western Canada, you could actually sign up for a much shorter term than ten years; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  So you could potentially contract for a month, a year, two years on some basis, and if that were to become unmanageable, you would then have the opportunity to seek other sources; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's fair.  And I think I did mention earlier that we are very much contemplating increasing supply on the TransCanada main line, as well, in response to the return to system.


MR. WOLNIK:  In response to I think it was Interrogatory No. 4, APPrO's interrogatory, I think you had indicated that the approximate benefit, if you were to move this 30,000 a day, was about 2 cents a day, maybe a little under 2 cents a day; is that fair?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, based on the 2010 tolling methodology used by TCPL.


MR. WOLNIK:  And that benefit would not just apply to the 30,000 a day, but that would be applied to the remainder of the volumes that Enbridge would ship from western Canada, which, as I understand, is about 260,000 a day.  Is that a fair point?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, two aspects to it.  The 2-cent or the nearly 2-cent reduction, first of all, was information provided by TransCanada, so we're assuming that's in fact accurate.


Secondly, that 2-cent reduction is only possible because we incur approximately $17 million in demand charges in terms of long haul demand charges for the long haul path.


So if we were to look at the net impact on the rest of our portfolio, we have to factor in that, in reality, our cost would actually increase by 17 million before you could apply the impact of that 2 cents on volume.


MR. WOLNIK:  As a fixed cost for that term of the contract, that would be the base level of which then you would begin to put supply into it; right?  The $17 million is the demand charge which is associated with 30,000 a day through the year; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  As I understand, I think you had indicated earlier that related to your Niagara supplies, you saw using that related at a high load factor; is that correct?  So that you could -- so presumably if this supply would replace that, presumably the intention would be to use it at a high load factor basis, as well; right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The intent would definitely be to use it at 100 percent load factor.


MR. WOLNIK:  If you didn't, I appreciate there are some demand charges there, but there are some risk adjustment mechanisms available from TransCanada to deal with days at a time when you may not need it or want it; is that fair?


MS. GHIRIDAR:  Correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  So there are some risk mitigation mechanisms there --


MS. GHIRIDAR:  Correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  -- to reduce that risk?  So that benefit, if you were to contract on a long-term basis of roughly 2 cents, or a little less, would apply to the 30,000, your existing 260,000 a day, plus all of the other load that other shippers shipping long haul and TransCanada would also -- they would also get that benefit, too; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, it is a zero-sum gain.  So the $17 million that we would spend would be exactly equal to the $17 million that everybody else would not spend.


MR. WOLNIK:  You haven't done a comprehensive analysis of that potential benefit; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't believe we would be able to do a comprehensive analysis of that.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Wolnik.  Ms. Helt?

Cross-Examination by Ms. Helt:


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Yes, I have approximately three or four questions for the panel.  The first question is one just of clarification, and I believe it was Mr. Thompson who asked whether or not Enbridge does, in fact, consider itself to be an anchor for the Niagara-CDA expansion, and I'm not sure if the answer was yes or no.  So could you just clarify that for me?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Our response is very similar to Union's.  At 30,000 gJs per day, we don't believe it is large enough to qualify as an anchor shipper, but we would agree that LDCs send an important signal in terms of confidence in the new supply basin when they do contract for whatever level it might be.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Then with respect to the TCPL proceeding before the NEB with respect to its 2011 tolls, I believe the evidence is clear that the tolls are uncertain and we don't know what future TCPL tolls will be.  Would you agree with that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MS. HELT:  Does Enbridge also agree, then, that the actual cost consequences of the Niagara-CDA contract are not known at this time?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct, and just to qualify that, I did also note that any supply to our franchise, except for what's coming out of storage, has to get on the TransCanada system, whether long haul or short haul.  So uncertainty applies to all aspects of our portfolio.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.  One other question dealing with transportation risk.  In one of the Board Staff's interrogatories, Enbridge responded that it anticipates the proposed contract will be fully utilized, because Marcellus supplies are expected to be abundant and the propose contract represents less than one-fifth of the current spot requirements.  Would you agree with that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, if you could just point me to which response that is?


MS. HELT:  That was the interrogatory response Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 3, pages 1 and 2.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. HELT:  And Enbridge also comments that supply and transportation portfolio are flexible enough to allow changes and adjustments in order to minimize the risk of under-utilization.  Do you agree with that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. HELT:  Can you then confirm for me, if we go to Board Staff's interrogatory, Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 7, page 2 of 2?  There is a chart entitled "Enbridge Gas Distribution Transportation Portfolio November 1, 2010".


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. HELT:  There are three Empress TCPL contracts.  Are those the contracts that have a one-year renewal provision?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Two of them do.  Sorry, they all have a one-year renewal provision; that's correct.


MS. HELT:  Are there any additional contracts with a one-year renewal provision?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  All of our TransCanada contracts, I believe, have a one-year renewal.  Well, actually, six-month renewal provision, so maybe I should -- I should probably clarify.


We have to provide six months in advance of contract expiry or renewal, and the contract term on the vast majority of our TCPL contracts is one year.


MS. HELT:  So these contracts, are these the ones that Enbridge refers to when it says it has the necessary transportation portfolio flexibility?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Enbridge is referring to its long-haul contracts, as well as its short-haul contracts.  It is also referring to, for example, its Chicago-Vector contracts post 2015.  It does have flexibility.  It has provided notice on Alliance not to renew, so that's available post 2015.


So there is, in fact, a term structure to our transportation portfolio that provides for that flexibility.


MS. HELT:  Then just one final question.  Would this potential de-contracting impact the tolls on TCPL?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  If we were to de-contract in the future?


MS. HELT:  Yes.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Presumably, in conjunction with everything else that's happening at that time.  So if, for instance, the de-contracting was accompanied by contracting by another party, there may not be another impact on tolls.


MS. HELT:  But you agree there may be an impact on tolls?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  There may be.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.  I have no further questions.

Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE: I just have a few quick questions of the panel.  You have indicated that the number of system gas customers is increasing as people are leaving direct purchase.  How many customers do you have on system now?


MR. DENOMY:  As of 2009, roughly 1.3 million customers.


MS. HARE:  Do you see volatility around that number, or is it constantly going up?


MR. DENOMY:  Based on the numbers that I have in front of me, it's gone up since 2005 each and every year.


MS. HARE:  If you do sign the contract, but over the course of the next six to eight months you decide to cancel and you incur those cancellation penalties, would be applying to the Board to have those recovered from all customers or just system gas customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That would be system customers, I believe, in accordance with our methodology for PGVA disposition.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MS. TAYLOR:  I just have a couple of questions with respect to the facilities that we're actually looking for in this application.


So there is approximately 7 million.  So if it's breakage fees, about 10 million of TCPL's demand charges in Union, what is that route?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That would be the M12X capacity that would be required to get gas from Kirkwall up to Parkway.


MS. TAYLOR:  And if memory serves, the amount TransCanada has contracted is in excess of 20,000 gJs a day.  So is it fair to ask the question, as Board Staff has, as it relates to Niagara, you would not describe yourself as the lead shipper?  As it relates to the further facilities from Parkway onward, are you the lead shipper on those facilities?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm not aware that we are.  Just based on the information filed by TransCanada today, I think there was a footnote that referred to between 220,000 to 270,000 gJs per day.  Excuse me, I'll try and get the -- sorry, 240 to 270,000 terajoules per day, which are not confirmed as yet.  I would suggest that 30,000 of that number, if all of those contracts did in fact become effective.


MS. TAYLOR:  Okay, thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just a couple of questions.  I, too, am interested in the facility side of the question.  Your exposure in this contract, Mr. Denomy, you expressed and corrected it to about $17 million.  We'll call it that, and, of that, about $10 million relates to the consequential exposure to TransCanada's purchase of capacity with Union; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That leaves us with about a $7 million exposure for facilities.  I took your answers with respect to the nature of facilities to be that's really an unknown project to you.  You don't really know what the nature of that construction is.


MS. GHIRIDAR:  Correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And we note that in Union's evidence this morning, when it was discussing what the facilities may or may -- one of the reasons they decided to withdraw their engagement with the Parkway contracts was it wasn't clear there was going to be construction.  It wasn't clear there was going to be actual new facilities being constructed.  Are you roughly in the same position in that score?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, yes.  We do note, as Union does, that the PA allows for TransCanada to presumably provide the service without building facilities, if they're able to.  So I suppose that is one end in a spectrum of outcomes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The reason that gives me some difficulty is that as I look at the guidelines, which are guidelines admittedly - they're not biblical in their effect - but the first one, for example, says "a description of proposed project that includes need, cause benefits, such as the project improves security of supply".  We really don't know what the project consists of, do we?


The project may be pipeline.  It may be a compressor.  It may be guys waving wands.  It could be anything, but we don't know what it is at this stage.  There is no description of the project that this long-term contract is intended to support.  Is that not a dilemma in this instance?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We do know, at the minimum, that there are facilities required to reverse flow at Niagara and Kirkwall that involve costs.  I think the unknown is the extent of the facilities required between Parkway and Maple.  From the perspective of Enbridge, regardless, the contracting terms that it is forced to sign up for require ten years of commitments in respect of the facilities that will be required.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I take it, and again I go back to the evidence that Union provided, which was that the open season referred to new capacity, not necessarily new facilities.  And that's the crux of this, isn't it, that the project consists of new capacity, but not necessarily new facilities?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Based on the contract language we've seen in the PA, that is correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  As I go further down, I just want to be fair for the purposes of argument as I go through these guidelines, the assessment of the landed costs at this stage, given the -- I mean, this is always a shaky kind of forecast, but, in this instance, it's even more problematic than ever, given the unusual circumstances of the TCPL regulatory process where we've had an interim application, which you're very familiar with, and the rather significant challenges that are being faced by that company at this stage -- challenges and opportunities, I may say.


But that makes the assessment of the landed cost over the period an extremely lucid number, doesn't it?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  There is significant uncertainty with respect to what the tolls might be on TransCanada's system.  I think the only thing they wanted to note is that regardless of which path we seek, we have to be on the TransCanada system.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So when it comes to relative -- the relative economics of the different basins, there is an element of TransCanada costs in all of them.  So it's really a question between what would be the difference between long haul on TransCanada versus short haul on TransCanada.  And our view is we already had, in TransCanada's proposal, a very significant shift towards short haul costs, and even in that instance, Niagara was competitive with the long haul.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.  Any re-direct?  I beg your pardon, Mr. Stevens?


MR. STEVENS:  No re-direct.

Procedural Matters:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I guess we are at the point now where we have a determination to make as to whether we will proceed with oral argument for the applicants.  It is certainly the Board's preference.  I certainly do not want to put you into an awkward position where you are feeling overly pressed into service here.


So I'm going to give you some latitude.  If you would prefer to make your oral argument tomorrow morning, the Board will accommodate that.


MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Chair, we're certainly prepared to proceed.  I believe it can fit within the time that we have left.  I don't know how long my friend will be.  We can't promise that between us and between Board questions we'll be able to get through everything before our hard stop at 5:15.


MR. SOMERVILLE:  Ms. Kirkpatrick?


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  I'm also confident that just in terms of the argument time, we would probably be okay.  I would remind the Panel that we're still -- we still have to provide a response to Ms. Hare's question, and I think it would make sense from our perspective to try and caucus on that before we went into oral argument.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you want five minutes?


I think the Board is more comfortable proceeding tomorrow morning.  I think that's the preferable way to go.  We will start -- instead of Mr. Thompson's 10 o'clock, we'll start at 9:30 at our usual time.  Hard service here, Mr. Thompson, but 9:30 tomorrow.


Do we have an indication as to which of the intervenors may be interested in providing oral argument tomorrow?  Mr. Wolnik, you're saying, no, you're going to provide written argument?


MR. WOLNIK:  Yes, I'll provide written argument.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Cameron?


MR. CAMERON:  I'm seeking instructions from my client, so I don't know yet whether I'll be making oral argument.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. MacIntosh?


MR. MACINTOSH:  Written argument Monday by noon.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very good.  Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  I'm happy to go tomorrow morning, sir.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson, you're going to go tomorrow morning?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I still have to check with the client, but my preference is to go tomorrow.


MR. SOMERVILLE:  Fair enough.  And I take it --


MS. HELT:  Mr. Chair, I can also advise that FRPO has indicated that they are pleased to have the opportunity to provide written submissions, so they will do so for Monday morning, and Board Staff's submissions will also be written and will be in on Monday.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very good.  So tomorrow morning, starting at 9:30, we will hear argument-in-chief from Union and Enbridge, and then argument from Mr. Thompson and Mr. Warren, and the rest of the arguments will follow in writing with -- Mr. Cameron you're still on the fence, and we will accommodate that.  Ms. Kirkpatrick?


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  I'm just wondering if we can at this point have any update on the undertaking situation?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Cameron, that's a question directed at you.


MR. CAMERON:  The difficulty we're having is that the information that was provided to Union and Enbridge as part of the process by which we've come to this stage has become out of date.  So it's not simply a question of pulling some numbers off a page.  The page they have has become inaccurate.


So people are working on it now in Toronto and Calgary and we're doing the best we can.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It's now about 1:30 in Calgary, so I guess the prospect is that something could be made available before tomorrow morning?


MR. CAMERON:  Yes, and we will e-mail it to the e-mail list as soon as it comes in.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that satisfactory?


MS. KIRKPATRICK:  From our perspective, yes, absolutely.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson, I don't think there are many options.  I think that's the way it is.


MS. HELT:  If I could just clarify, then, is it a document that's going to be filed confidentially?


MR. CAMERON:  We don't know yet.  We're going to try to generate a number for the first quarter of this year for each of the shippers that can be filed publicly.  But as I say, people are still working on this in Calgary.


MS. HELT:  Otherwise, the normal practice is, if the Panel determines it should be held in confidence, then parties are to sign a declaration and undertaking prior to receiving the document.


MR. CAMERON:  We're trying to avoid that cumbersomeness, but we haven't just been able to figure out...


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is the sensitivity with respect to the names of the shippers?


MR. CAMERON:  No, the names will be Union and Enbridge, and the numbers will be for the first quarter of this year.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks.  Okay, we'll look forward to that overnight, and I guess, Mr. Thompson, you'll give contact information to Mr. Cameron.  And we'll gather together tomorrow morning at 9:30 to complete this portion of the case.


MR. CAMERON:  I'll just text Mr. Thompson on his cell phone.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We'll leave you to that, and we'll stand adjourned until 9:30 tomorrow morning.  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:34 p.m.
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